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Mission

To resolve short-term insurance complaints fairly, efficiently and impartially.

Theme

On the 27th April 2014 we celebrated twenty years of democracy.
Our assistance is sought by consumers from all nine provinces and as a tribute to the
colourful diversity of our country, we publish some images from each of our provinces.
Dennis Jooste
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Report by the
Chairman of the Board

JOHN MYBURGH Chairman and WENDY KNOWLER Vice-Chairman
I am pleased to report that the

current directors until the conclusion of the

complaint in 2013 to R3,100 per complaint

office continues to be well supported

Annual General Meeting to be held in 2015.

in 2014. A clean audit has been received

by consumers in seeking resolution of

The board consists of 11 members consisting

from our external auditors.

disputes with insurers. The 2013 statistics,

of 2 independent directors, one of which is

which will be more fully referred to by the

the Chairman of the Board, 3 representing

Ombudsman in his report, show an increase

insurers, 4 representing consumer interests,

Introduction of an Appeal
Mechanism

in the number of complaints received

and ex-officio members representing the

5.

compared to 2012. The first few months of

Financial Services Board and the South

the year was the introduction of an appeal

2014 show a marked increase in the number

African Insurance Association.

mechanism which applies to complaints

1.

of complaints compared to the prior period
in 2013.

received for the first time by the office on
3.

The Board decided to establish a

or after the 1st December 2013. We are

Remuneration Committee and to retain the

fortunate in having secured the services of

Corporate Governance

Executive Committee which focuses more

2.

on operational matters.

At a Special General Meeting of

members held on the 8th April 2013, the

Another major development during

three eminent retired judges to serve on
the appeal tribunal. The Honourable Mr
Justice Sandile Ngcobo, former Chief Justice

members adopted a new Memorandum of

Finance and Operations

Incorporation (the new “MOI”). In terms of

4.

the new MOI, the term of office of directors

of the company are sound and that for 2014

is now three years. At the Annual General

there has only been a 3.3% increase in the fee

Meeting held on the 15 July 2013, it was

charged for every complaint received against

of Appeal, namely Judge P.M. Nienaber and

agreed to extend the terms of office of all

an insurer. This increased from R3,000 per

Judge T.D. Cloete.

th

4

I am pleased to report that the finances

of the Republic of South Africa will serve
as Chairman. The two other members are
both former judges of the Supreme Court

Report by the Chairman of the Board

Statutory Environment

are ongoing. Hopefully finality on the new

Directors

6.

model may be obtained during the course

10.

of 2014.

of Nedgroup Insurance Company Limited

Members will be aware that for some

time there have been ongoing discussions
relating to the so-called single Ombudsman’s
structure. This envisaged that all financial
services Ombuds as currently constituted
would fall under one single “Super Ombud”.
We had misgivings with this proposal and
made appropriate representations in regard
thereto to the National Treasury. We are
glad to report that this idea appears to
have been abandoned in favour of a model
which leaves the current sectoral Ombuds
Schemes intact, but with additional oversight
by the Financial Services Ombud Schemes
Council (“the FSOS Council”).

However,

even in regard to this proposal we have
misgivings which have been conveyed to
the National Treasury in regard to the
publication of the Financial Sector Regulation
Bill on or about the 11th December 2013.
Discussions between all voluntary Ombud

Operational Matters
7.

Detailed statistics will be presented

During the year Mr Robert Semenya

resigned in the light of his decision to pursue
a career path outside of the insurance
industry.

He was replaced by Mr Collin

by the Ombudsman as part of his Annual

Molepe of Zurich Insurance Company

Report to be launched on the 15th May

Limited. Mr Jonathan Dixon the ex-officio

2014. Suffice it to say that there has been

member from the Financial Services Board

considerable progress in the operational

resigned with effect from 31st December

efficiencies of the office.

2013 and has been replaced by Ms Lesedi

Staff Matters
8.

There are presently 37 members

Letwaba of the Financial Services Board. We
likewise welcome them and look forward to
their contribution going forward.

of staff. Of these there are 12 Assistant
Ombudsman, the Deputy Ombudsman, Edite

Note of Thanks

Teixeira-Mckinon who was appointed during

11.

2013 and the Ombudsman himself. There

members of the board for their support

was fortunately no turnover of professional

and hard work during the year and to the

staff during 2013.

members of the staff.

Members

John Myburgh SC
7 April 2014

9.

Two new members joined during 2013

Schemes, the FAIS Ombud and the Pension

namely, Sunderland Marine and Corporate

Fund Adjudicator with the National Treasury

Guarantee who we again welcome.

I wish to convey my gratitude to the

Caledon, Western Cape Province
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REPORT BY THE OMBUDSMAN

DENNIS JOOSTE Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance

It gives me great pleasure to submit

As explained by the National Treasury in a

be responsible for ensuring the integrity and

the Ombudsman’s Annual Report for 2013

media release accompanying the publication

efficiency of financial markets and promoting

in accordance with our Terms of Reference. I

of the bill, the bill is the first in a series to

effective consumer education”.

am pleased to report that we can look back

implement the so-called “Twin Peaks” model

on a most successful year for the reasons

for financial regulation “to make the financial

3.

more fully set out below.

sector safer and serve South Africa better”.

reveals what the authorities have in mind

This envisages, amongst other things, that the

as far as Ombudsman schemes generally,

Financial Services Board will be replaced by

and voluntary schemes in particular, are

In my report for 2012 I drew attention

an entity to be known as the Market Conduct

concerned. It had previously been mooted,

to the comprehensive Financial Services

Authority. As the name implies, this body will

as one possibility, that all Ombudsman

Laws General Amendment Bill which had

be obligated to oversee market conduct of

schemes fall under the umbrella of a single

then been published for public comment.

financial service providers “and to improve

“super Ombudsman”.

This was an all-embracing piece of legislation

the way financial service providers conduct

scheme, there would have been sectoral

which affected many aspects of the financial

their business.” This is distinct from financial

Ombuds who would have been responsible

services industry. However, of more direct

solvency issues which will be the domain of

purely for dispute resolution, with all other

application to Ombud schemes generally is

the National Treasury. Further, according to

administrative and policy functions being

the Financial Sector Regulation Bill, published

the National Treasury media release, “the

vested in the so-called super Ombudsman.

in December 2013 for public comment.

proposed Market Conduct Authority will

All voluntary Ombudsmen had reservations

1.

Statutory Environment
2.

6

The Financial Sector Regulation Bill now

As part of this

Report by the Ombudsman

about this model and those reservations

5.4 T
 he FSOS Council is to monitor

of the Ombudsman. This is evidenced by the

were expressed in a joint memorandum

compliance of Ombudsmen

fact that upon establishment of the office,

submitted to the National Treasury in July

schemes with the Financial

the insurers only undertook to give “serious

2013. A meeting had earlier been held with

Services Ombud Schemes Act

consideration” to a recommendation by an

representatives of the National Treasury

(“FSOS Act”).

Ombudsman. This has changed over the

in June 2013 to discuss these important

5.5	The FSOS Council is to promote

years to where insurers are now contractually

issues. These discussions took place in a

and direct co-operation between

bound to honour any ruling made by the

schemes.

Ombudsman. These additional powers in

constructive environment and I am pleased to

5.6	The FSOS Council is to

say that the new Financial Sector Regulation

the hands of the Ombudsman have, I believe,

Bill bares testimony to the fact that the

facilitate the delineation of the

been used responsibly as is evidenced by the

suggestions made by the various voluntary

jurisdictional boundaries

fact that a final ruling has never been ignored

between schemes.

by an insurer and there has never been an

Ombudsmen appear to have been given

5.7	The FSOS Council is to put

serious consideration by the authorities. This
is evident when one looks at the contents of

measures in place to enhance

the new Bill which does not pursue the single

public awareness of the
schemes.

Ombudsman idea.

5.8	The FSOS Council may set up
4.
What the new Bill envisages is that
many of the existing arrangements will
remain intact but with additional oversight
over Ombudsman schemes being vested
in the Financial Services Ombud Schemes
Council (“FSOS Council”). However, there
are certain aspects of the bill which remain
of concern to the voluntary Ombuds and
these concerns are still being addressed
by the Ombudsman in consultation with
the National Treasury. The bill is far from
settled and no doubt there will be further
amendments before it is enacted as law.
5.
It is important that there be a clear
understanding of what constitutes “additional
oversight” by the FSOS Council over the
sectoral Ombuds as envisaged in the bill. The
following is a summary of what constitutes
such additional oversight:
5.1	The FSOS Council is to approve
the appointment and removal of
an Ombudsman.
5.2	All Ombudsmen schemes
are to be accountable to the
FSOS Council.
5.3	The FSOS Council is to set
“norms and standards” for
all Ombudsmen.

application to court to review a final ruling
of an Ombudsman.

Appeal Mechanism
8.

The proposed Appeal Mechanism

an independent advisory board

became effective on the 1st December 2013.

to act as a liaison between it

This has been reported upon previously and

and the respective Ombudsman

I am pleased to announce the appointment

Boards.

of an Appeal Tribunal of the highest quality.
The Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal is the

Under the circumstances we still have

Honourable Judge Sandile Ngcobo, former

a journey to complete but, hopefully, the end

Chief Justice of the Republic of South Africa.

product will be acceptable to all interested

The other two members are both retired

parties. It is critical that the confidence of the

Supreme Court of Appeal judges, namely,

insurance industry, consumer organisations

Judge P.M. Nienaber and Judge T.D. Cloete.

and the general public be retained, as I

We are indeed grateful for the honourable

am now more convinced than ever of the

judges having accepted the invitation to

benefits offered by Ombudsman Schemes

serve in this capacity. Our website contains

generally. In fact, I do not believe that this

details of the rules applicable to the Appeal

issue is any longer an issue for debate. When

Mechanism. Without in any way attempting

one considers the free services rendered to

to summarise all the rules, it should be

consumers and the number of cases dealt

pointed out that an appeal can only proceed

with by the office, I believe that the facts

with the leave of the Ombudsman first

speak for themselves.

having been obtained. The purpose of this

6.

is to eliminate speculative appeals where
7.

The year 2014 marks the twenty-

there is, in the view of the Ombudsman, no

fifth anniversary of the existence of this

prospect of success. This is similar to what is

office. This is a milestone to be celebrated.

to be found in existing court procedures.

It is interesting to see how the office has
developed and matured over these twenty-

Office Statistics

five years with enhanced powers being vested

9.

in the Ombudsman to make rulings. Initially

there had been a pleasing improvement in

the insurers appear to have been somewhat

the operational efficiencies of the office.

hesitant to commit their fate into the hands

This trend has been maintained, and has in

As I indicated in my 2012 report,
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fact accelerated during 2013, as is evidenced by the office statistics represented graphically
elsewhere in this publication. Particularly pleasing are the following:
9.1	The average days taken to resolve a complaint has reduced substantially during 2013
to 111 days from 223 days in 2011 and 183 days in 2012.
9.2	The number of matters unresolved after six months as at the end of December 2013
stood at 72 compared to 1319 in 2011 and 352 in 2012.
9.3	The total number of complaints received during the year was 9,368 which represents
an increase of 245 or 2.7% over 2012. In this regard, I would mention in passing, that
the number of complaints received during the period January to March 2014 shows a
material increase compared to the similar period in 2013. Although it is too early to
confidently conclude that this is indicative of a trend, early indications are that there
will be additional pressure on the office during the rest of 2014. The increase in the
number of complaints may be attributable to several factors, including the number of
claims registered due to adverse weather conditions and other factors, the effect of
the Treating Customers Fairly campaign and, generally, the growing sophistication of
and awareness of consumers as to their contractual rights. Hopefully the service
offered by this office may also have contributed to this trend.
9.4	During 2011 52% of cases were resolved within six months. During 2012 this figure
increased to 63% and to 87% during 2013.
9.5	The average turnover rate for the year was 33% which is more or less in line with
prior years. This figure includes both commercial and personal lines policies. The
overturn rate for personal lines was also 33%.
9.6	The rand value of matters resolved in favour of consumers in 2013 was R118,937,888

Dutch House, Western Cape Province

as compared to R113,702,668 in 2012. However, these two figures are not strictly
comparable.The reason for this is that in 2012, if a matter was resolved by agreement
with no additional benefit to an insured over that which an insurer had initially offered,
this figure was still taken into account as having been recovered from the insurer.
This appears to have been unfair to insurers and this type of settlement figure has
now been excluded from the 2013 statistics.
10.

These statistics are indeed pleasing and credit must be given to the professional staff of the

Ombudsman’s office and to the high level of co-operation received from the insurers. During
the year reduced response times were imposed upon insurers which had the desired effect.
As previously indicated, I have imposed a guideline rule that insurers should not be given more
than two opportunities to present facts to this office in defence of their decision to repudiate a
claim. Furthermore, insurers cannot explain away delays in responses to this office by referring
to information which the insurer must first obtain from, for example, an underwriting manager.
This office looks to the insurer for a response and if the insurer chooses to use an underwriting
manager, then the expectation of this office is that the insurer must manage the performance of
Vineyard, Western Cape Province

8

its own underwriting manager.

Report by the Ombudsman

113

Our thanks are due to the Financial Services

Strategic Planning

formal claims meetings were held with

Board for providing us with the basic

insurers, apart from numerous one on one

statistics already referred to.

17. During February of 2013, the whole
Board was involved in a strategic planning
session with the assistance of a facilitator.
This productive session yielded various

11.

During

2013

approximately

meetings with insurers and specific assistant
be a critical factor in the dispute resolution

Co-operation with the
Authorities

procedure. However, it is noticeable that the

14.

number of complaints dealt with at these

with the National Treasury on the structure

Corporate Governance

meetings has reduced substantially in recent

of Ombud Schemes. Our interaction with

18.

the Financial Services Board has been

consideration.

Ombudsmen. These meetings continue to

times. The reason for this is obvious, namely
that there are less matters on the six month
list to discuss. In fact the six month list is
rapidly becoming obsolete and the focus is
now on the five and four month lists.

Transparency / Insurer Statistics
12.

2013 saw a historic milestone in that

for the first time, insurer statistics albeit only
in respect of personal lines policies, were

I have already referred to our contact

formalised by the establishment of a liaison
committee which meets at regular intervals
to discuss matters of mutual interest. There
has been little communication with the
FSOS Council during 2013 and hopefully
this is indicative that that Council has no
particular concerns with the office.

initiatives which have been implemented.

This continues to be a most important
We work in conjunction

with our internal auditors to identify areas
where we can improve our performance
and have implemented recommendations
made by them from time to time. These
are more fully referred to below.

The

various charters involving the Board, the
Executive Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee have
been reviewed and strengthened. In passing

bodies including the South African Insurance

Interaction with the South
African Insurance Association
and Consumer Organisations

Association, the Financial Intermediaries

15.

Association, the FSOS Council and consumer

quarterly meetings with the SAIA/OSTI

as is recommended by the King III report

organisations. The basis of these statistics

Liaison Committee has been maintained.

on

are the statistics which we receive from the

SAIA has embarked on a laudable initiative

Memorandum of Incorporation was adopted

Financial Services Board. These statistics are

to encourage the simplification of policy

by members at a Special General Meeting

in fact the statistics submitted by insurers

wordings. We were requested to assist in

held in April 2013 in order to comply with

themselves to the Financial Services Board

this initiative and have done so by drawing

the provisions of the new Companies Act of

and are published by us unchanged. In last

attention to terms commonly found in

published by this office. The publication of
these statistics was welcomed by all industry

year’s report we explained in detail our
approach to these statistics, and for purposes
of a better understanding of the statistics
published in this the 2013 report, the
explanatory notes previously published will
be repeated with some slight modifications.
While the 2013 statistics of individual

This is ongoing and the formal

policies but which are misunderstood by
the average consumer. As far as consumer
organisations are concerned, these are
represented on the Board. I am glad to
report that we have received no adverse
comments from any consumer organisation

I would mention that during the year a
Remuneration Committee was established
to deal with issues of employment terms
and

conditions, including
Corporate

remuneration,

Governance.

A

new

2010. One of the changes provides for the
terms of office of directors being three years
instead of the previous one year.

Internal Auditor
Recommendations
19.

During the year we engaged with our

internal auditors to draft a three year rolling

insurers may, understandably, change from

in regard to the service being provided by

and an annual internal audit plan. We also

2012, it is interesting to note that a constant

the office or in respect of any other issue.

engaged with them on particular topics

3 out of 1000 claims to insurers end up as
complaints to this office.

Final Rulings
16.

During 2013 two Final Rulings were

including the following, namely, governance,
marketing and communication and also
employment equity issues.

The Financial Services Board appears

made against Etana Insurance Company

to have welcomed our statistics which will

Ltd and ABSA Insurance Company Ltd

Industry Workshop

be used by that office in monitoring the

respectively.

20.

13.

market conduct of insurers going forward.

Both these rulings were

honoured by the insurers involved.

During October 2013 we hosted a

very successful workshop for the industry.
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26.2	The Economic Management

The objective was to explain to insurers the

by the office. To this end we have enjoyed

approach of the office in regard to particular

extensive publicity during 2013 from all

problems which often form the subject of

sections of the media. Thus, in respect of

discussion at claims meetings. In conjunction

radio coverage, we were interviewed on 22

with the seminar, a handbook was published

occasions involving 13 different radio stations.

project involving two radio

by the office for distribution to industry

We were interviewed on 3 occasions on

stations.

representatives. The workshop was very

national television and enjoyed widespread

well attended and will be repeated, albeit not

coverage in the written media. Apart from

annually, in future.

the aforegoing we also presented workshops

Finances

Science (EMS) schools financial
literacy project.
26.3	The Radio Financial Literacy

26.4	Various other initiatives headed
up by SAIA.

to three different insurers and an industry

27.

Last but not least, attention should

workshop referred to elsewhere in this report.

be drawn to the educational information

It is taken for granted that the company

As part of that workshop we produced an

contained

receives a clean auditors report. This has

Ombudsman’s Handbook for use by insurers

case studies produces in our quarterly

again been the case for the 2013 annual

in their dealings with the office.

Ombudsman Briefcase. These studies are

21.

financial year and attention is directed to
the annual financial statements published in
this report. These were approved by the
members at the Annual General meeting
held in April 2014.

Staff
22.

I am delighted to report that the

professional staff situation remains stable.
We have not had any loss of professional
staff since the end of 2011.

Obviously

this has contributed greatly to the pleasing
office statistics already referred to.

The

intellectual capital and experience within the
professional side of the organisation is one
of our major assets. There has been some
minimal turnover at administrative level
due to the usual personal reasons such as
marriage and translocation. However, the
overall staff position is very stable. It is no
longer necessary to consider a long term
incentive scheme to maintain staff stability.
Edite Teixeira-Mckinon was appointed as
Deputy Ombudsman in March 2013.

Consumer Education and
Public Relations
23.

The continued existence of the office

depends upon public support. To ensure this,
the services of the office must be publicised
and consumers should be educated, amongst
other things, about the free service offered

10

on

our

website

and

the

widely distributed to members of the media
24. All the aforegoing contributes towards
consumer education which we are mandated
to contribute to in terms of our Terms of
Reference. With our limited resources,
the most effective way of contributing to
the knowledge of consumers in respect of
insurance matters, is to make use of the
media. Our policy has always been to be
responsive to media enquiries and this will
continue in the future.
25. Apart from the aforegoing, the office
is a member of the National Consumer
Financial Education Committee.
This
committee meets on a quarterly basis under
the auspices of the National Treasury. We
also participate in the working group on the
establishment of a Financial Wellness Bureau
which is being explored as a centralised
contact centre where South Africans can call
in for assistance in all financial matters.
26. The office is also a member of the
SAIA Consumer Education Committee
which is the vehicle through which the
industry consumer education efforts are
pursued. This committee meets monthly and
some of the projects and activities involved
the following:
26.1	Compiling the standard motor
policy terminology and concepts
document.

who often show an interest in these case
studies. Very often our publications generate
media comment which would be of interest
to the average consumer, thereby further
contributing to consumer education.

Treating Customers Fairly
Initiative
28.

This is an initiative launched by the

authorities and which has correctly attracted
the attention of insurers. What it envisages
are six outcomes which insurers are obliged
to consider and take cognisable steps to
achieve.

Considerable resources will be

made available to the Financial Services
Board in monitoring the performance of
insurers and it will be interesting to see what
effect the TCF campaign has on the number
of complaints received by this office. On
the one hand the TCF campaign may lead
to insurers treating customers more fairly
which is obviously the main objective. If
this occurs, then the number of complaints
we receive could possibly reduce. On the
other hand, increased consumer awareness
as to consumer rights may have exactly the
opposite effect. It will be interesting to see
what the effect of TCF has on our numbers.
I have repeatedly declared the support of
this office for this initiative which must be

Report by the Ombudsman

welcomed as additional protection against

presented on a wide range of relevant topics.

Appreciation

unfair treatment of consumers where this

What continues to be apparent is the wide

34.

may occur.

range of models, powers and procedures

result of a team effort involving many players.

The pleasing results are obviously the

amongst the various schemes worldwide.

I wish to express my greatest appreciation to

In pursuing their TCF goals, insurers

Thus, I was unable to identify any one

the Board, the staff, the authorities, industry

will no doubt have recourse to research

foreign Ombudsman scheme which closely

organisations and consumer organisations

surveys in order to determine the level of

resembles our scheme. Most of the foreign

for what can be described as an extremely

their customer satisfaction. The industry will

Ombudsman offices deal with a multiplicity

successful year. We should also pause for

be aware of the South African Customer

of financial service products. In discussions

a moment to celebrate twenty years of

Satisfaction Index which in 2013 reported

with the Secretariat of INFO, I was only

democracy in the new South Africa.

an average satisfaction score of 77.5 out

able to identify Switzerland as having an

29.

of 100. South Africa was ranked third out
of thirteen countries investigated, with the
United States having the highest ranking with
a customer satisfaction score of 83.0 out of
100. Hopefully South African insurers will be
motivated by this type of survey and indeed
by our office’s own statistics to increase the
level of customer satisfaction to achieve the
TCF outcomes.

It has been my pleasure to liaise on a

regular basis with the Ombudsman for Longterm Insurance, the Banking Ombudsman, the
Credit Ombudsman, the FAIS Ombudsman
and

the

Pension

Short-term Insurance issues. However, their

Fund

Adjudicator

Dennis Jooste
7 April 2014

model and their powers vary greatly from
our own. Their powers do not extend to
making binding rulings against insurers and
are limited merely to making non-binding
recommendations, similar to the position
which prevailed at the establishment of our
scheme.

Liaison with other Ombudsmen
30.

Ombudsman’s office specifically dedicated to

Nevertheless, it was instructive

to interact with Ombudsman from other
jurisdictions and it is important that we
maintain our membership with the INFO
network.

Directors

throughout the year. Each organisation has

32.

its particular challenges and I wish to thank

industry directors, tendered his resignation,

Mr Robert Semenya, one of the

my colleagues in these organisations for the

he having chosen a career path outside of

collegial manner in which our various offices

the insurance industry. He has been replaced

co-operate.

by Mr Collin Molepe of Zurich Insurance
Company Ltd. Furthermore, Mr Jonathan

The International Network for
Financial Ombudsman (“INFO”)

Dixon the ex-officio member on the Board

31.

I attended the annual INFO conference

tendered his resignation with effect from 31st

which was held in Taipei,Taiwan from the 15th

December 2013 and he has been replaced

– 18 September 2013. About 18 South

by Ms Lesedi Letwaba. We welcome Mr

African delegates attended including from

Molepe and Ms Letwaba to our Board.

th

the Ombudsman for Banking Services, the

representing the Financial Services Board

FAIS Ombud, the Credit Ombudsman, the

New Members

Ombudsman for Long-term Insurance, the

33.

Pension Fund Adjudicator and the Banking

members.

Association of South Africa.

Marine and Corporate Guarantee as new

Delegates

attended from 23 countries and papers

At year end we had fifty five insurer
We welcomed Sunderland

members during the year.

Clarens, Free State Province
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Office Statistics

113 186 182

136 400 147

130 923 682

117 740 245

113 702 668

118 937 888

Year

RAND VALUE OF COMPLAINTS RESOLVED IN FAVOUR OF THE INSURED

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

FORMAL COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

2008

9 763

2009

9 144

8 778

8 969

2013

2012

2011

2010

9 123

9 368

3 135

3 172

3 124

3 159

3 516

3 910

Year

PRELIMINARY MATTERS RECEIVED

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

TOTAL FILES CLOSED

12

2008

7 880

2009

9 375

2010

8 992

2011

9 827

2012

10 397

2013

10 181

Office Statistics

72

352

2008 2009 2010

1319

1992

2098

2111
Year

111

183

223

225

233

MATTERS UNRESOLVED AFTER 6 MONTHS

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

2011 2012 2013

FILES CLOSED WITHIN A 6 MONTH PERIOD

FINAL RULINGS 2013

100%

INSURER

80%

60%

POLICY TYPE

ABSA Insurance
Company Ltd

Commercial
(Livestock)

Etana Insurance
Company Ltd

Motor vehicle

63%

20%

2011

2012

87%

40%

52%

Year

178

AVERAGE DAYS TO RESOLVE COMPLAINTS

2013

TYPES OF COMPLAINTS

48.5%

20.6%

17.8%

8.1%

5%

Motor 4542

Houseowners 1934

Miscellaneous 1665

Householders 759

Commercial 468
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Insurer Statistics and
Explanatory Notes

Hole in the Wall, Eastern Cape Province

Explanatory Notes

complaints represent only about 5.0% of total

1.

complaints to the office of the Ombudsman.

The publication of statistics for each

individual insurer is an innovation initiated
by member companies which has been

3.

approved by the FSOS Council. However,

drawn against any insurer based purely on

No adverse conclusions should be

the data must be understood in the correct

the number of complaints against them

context and it is therefore necessary to

received by this office.

record some words of explanation in relation

issue proportionately more policies which

to these statistics.

cannot form the basis of a complaint to this

Larger insurers

office than do smaller insurers. Thus, for

Ombudsman’s limited jurisdiction

example, when considering the percentage

2.

The office of the Ombudsman has

of complaints received by this office against

limited jurisdiction over commercial lines

a large insurer, the large insurer, upon a

policies and, in any event, has jurisdiction for

superficial analysis, appears to attract a

personal lines business only up to R2 million,

relatively low number of complaints. What is

save for home owners claims where the

a more important statistic is the proportion

jurisdictional limit is R4 million. The statistics

of personal lines complaints relative to an

therefore focus only on personal lines claims

insurer’s share of the total personal lines

(statistics provided by the Financial Services

claims reported to the Financial Services

Board)

Board.

and

personal

lines

complaints

received by this office. Commercial lines

14

The clearest indicator of this is

column 5 being the number of complaints

to this office per thousand claims received
by an insurer. Where an insurer receives a
high number of complaints to this office per
thousand claims, this may be an indicator that
claims are dealt with unfairly by the insurer.
However, this statistic should be considered
in conjunction with column 8 being the
overturn rate. The overturn rate is an
indicator that the decision of the insurer with
respect to a complaint was changed in some
respect by this office with some additional
benefit to the insured. Further comments
on the overturn rate appear below.
4.
Please note that a claim can be
received by an insurer in year one and a
complaint in respect of that claim may be
received by OSTI only in year two – hence
the number in column 3 may be greater
than the number in column 1. The statistics
record the numbers received by insurers and
the OSTI respectively during 2013.

Insurer Statistics and Explanatory Notes

(b)	A resolution of the dispute

Also note that under column 1, certain

of claims. If a high overturn rate is registered,

insurers are shown by the FSB statistics as

this may, but not necessarily, indicate that

has

having received no claims during 2013. This

the insurer is not treating its customers as

Ombudsman with the insured

may be explained on the basis of either

fairly as it should.

However the overturn

receiving a benefit which he/

the company issuing only commercial lines

rate should be treated with considerable

she would not have received

policies or that the company is dormant. We

caution as a high overturn rate can also be

without the involvement of the

repeat that only personal lines statistics are

indicative of a high degree of co-operation

included in the table as this is what has been

being received by the Ombudsman’s office

(c)	
There has been a Final Ruling

received from the FSB (columns 1 and 2)

from a particular insurer in resolving a

in favor of the insured by the

complaint to the satisfaction of the customer.

Ombudsman.

5.

Overturn Rate
6.

The overturn rate per insurer as shown

in the table is for personal lines claims only. It

The Ombudsman takes into account the

the overall 33% overturn rate mentioned in
the Ombudsman’s report includes both types

mediated

by

the

Ombudsman.

following three circumstances in determining

General

the Overturn Rate:

7.

excludes commercial lines claims. However,

been

Any media queries in relation to insurer

statistics should be directed to the particular
(a)	The decision of the insurer is

insurer.

overturned by the Ombudsman.

Johannesburg CBD, Gauteng Province
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ANNUAL STATISTICS - JANUARY 2013 to DECEMBER 2013
(PERSONAL LINES ONLY : COMMERCIAL LINES EXCLUDED)
1

2

3

4

5

6

Claims
received
by Insurers
(FSB
statistics)

Share of
claims
received
by the
particular
insurer (FSB
statistics)

Complaints
received by
OSTI

Share of
the total
number of
complaints
received
by OSTI

Number of
Complaints
received by
OSTI per
thousand
Claims
received by
Insurer

Complaints
finalised by
OSTI

219,446

7.54%

839

9.43%

4/1000

892

265

29.71%

354

0.01%

19

0.21%

19/1000

28

9

32.14%

5,615

0.19%

41

0.46%

7/1000

47

18

38.30%

54,110

1.86%

145

1.63%

3/1000

173

38

21.97%

0

0.00%

0

0.00%

0/1000

0

0

0.00%

107,658

3.70%

475

5.34%

4/1000

642

274

42.68%

Bidvest Insurance Ltd

11,267

0.39%

16

0.18%

1/1000

12

5

41.67%

Budget Insurance Co. Ltd

73,777

2.54%

375

4.21%

5/1000

373

158

42.36%

Centriq Insurance Co Ltd

67,662

2.33%

206

2.31%

3/1000

229

99

43.23%

Compass Insurance Co. Ltd

14,144

0.49%

48

0.54%

3/1000

63

12

19.05%

Constantia Insurance Co. Ltd

21,648

0.74%

68

0.76%

3/1000

78

29

37.18%

0

0.00%

0

0.00%

0/1000

0

0

0.00%

Dial Direct Insurance Co. Ltd

71,796

2.47%

294

3.30%

4/1000

370

154

41.62%

Discovery Insure Ltd

26,396

0.91%

63

0.71%

2/1000

48

13

27.08%

0

0.00%

1

0.01%

0/1000

1

0

0.00%

9,670

0.33%

55

0.62%

6/1000

65

21

32.31%

51,895

1.78%

195

2.19%

4/1000

172

92

53.49%

3,605

0.12%

31

0.35%

9/1000

30

6

20.00%

Guardrisk Insurance Co. Ltd

131,095

4.51%

319

3.58%

2/1000

324

136

41.98%

Hollard Insurance Co. Ltd

310,009

10.66%

503

5.65%

2/1000

553

172

31.10%

2,154

0.07%

6

0.07%

3/1000

3

0

0.00%

Infiniti Insurance Ltd

18,741

0.64%

56

0.63%

3/1000

61

16

26.23%

JDG Micro Insurance Ltd

36,726

1.26%

2

0.02%

0/1000

3

1

33.33%

7,506

0.26%

133

1.49%

18/1000

90

18

20.00%

25,115

0.86%

70

0.79%

3/1000

74

16

21.62%

Lion of Africa Insurance Co. Ltd

2,099

0.07%

22

0.25%

10/1000

31

9

29.03%

Lloyds South Africa Ltd

1,242

0.04%

24

0.27%

19/1000

29

8

27.59%

0

0.00%

17

0.19%		

15

10

66.67%

Miway Insurance Co. Ltd

82,983

2.85%

485

5.45%

6/1000

460

76

16.52%

Momentum Insurance Co. Ltd

11,851

0.41%

36

0.40%

3/1000

39

4

10.26%

Monarch Insurance Co. Ltd

26,293

0.90%

5

0.06%

0/1000

7

3

42.86%

130,850

4.50%

635

7.13%

5/1000

716

262

36.59%

Name of Insurer
Absa Insurance Co. Ltd
Ace Insurance Co Ltd
AIG SA Ltd
Alexander Forbes Insurance Co. Ltd
Allianz Global Corporate &
Specialty SA Ltd
Auto & General Insurance Co. Ltd

Corporate Guarantee SA Ltd***

Emerald Insurance Co. Ltd
Etana Insurance Co. Ltd
First for Woman Insurance Co. Ltd
Genric Insurance Co. Ltd

Indequity Specialised Insurance Ltd

King Price Insurance Co. Ltd
Legal Expenses SA Ltd

Lombard Insurance Group**

Mutual & Federal Insurance Co. Ltd
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7

8

Complaints
finalised
with some
benefit to
the insured

Overturn
Rate

Insurer Statistics and Explanatory Notes

Name of Insurer
Natsure Ltd

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Claims
received
by Insurers
(FSB
statistics)

Share of
claims
received
by the
particular
insurer (FSB
statistics)

Complaints
received by
OSTI

Share of
the total
number of
complaints
received
by OSTI

Number of
Complaints
received by
OSTI per
thousand
Claims
received by
Insurer

Complaints
finalised by
OSTI

8

Complaints
finalised
with some
benefit to
the insured

Overturn
Rate

0

0.00%

0

0.00%

0/1000

0

0

0.00%

Nedgroup Insurance Co. Ltd

94,815

3.26%

255

2.87%

3/1000

289

78

26.99%

New National Assurance Co. Ltd

61,791

2.12%

396

4.45%

6/1000

408

179

43.87%

NMS Insurance Services SA Ltd

100,864

3.47%

1

0.01%

0/1000

0

0

0.00%

13,647

0.47%

170

1.91%

12/1000

199

71

35.68%

812

0.03%

1

0.01%

1/1000

1

1

100.00%

295,462

10.16%

624

7.01%

2/1000

755

106

14.04%

R M B Structured Insurance Ltd

23,159

0.80%

362

4.07%

16/1000

385

148

38.44%

Regent Insurance

66,082

2.27%

194

2.18%

3/1000

219

89

40.64%

Relyant Insurance Co. Ltd

17,299

0.59%

3

0.03%

0/1000

3

2

66.67%

Renasa Insurance Co. Ltd

33,419

1.15%

70

0.79%

2/1000

73

23

31.51%

SAHL Insurance Co. Ltd

24,103

0.83%

72

0.81%

3/1000

73

17

23.29%

SAFIRE Insurance Co. Ltd

4,967

0.17%

6

0.07%

1/1000

12

5

41.67%

399,658

13.74%

744

8.36%

2/1000

843

248

29.42%

162

0.01%

0

0.00%

0/1000

0

0

0.00%

2,201

0.08%

37

0.42%

17/1000

54

23

42.59%

17,776

0.61%

9

0.10%

1/1000

11

6

54.55%

116,370

4.00%

502

5.64%

4/1000

540

202

37.41%

0

0.00%

0

0.00%

0/1000

0

0

0.00%

2,567

0.09%

11

0.12%

4/1000

9

4

44.44%

67,503

2.32%

43

0.48%

1/1000

26

13

50.00%

3,310

0.11%

49

0.55%

15/1000

49

7

14.29%

37,294

1.28%

167

1.88%

4/1000

150

55

36.67%

Oakhurst Insurance C. Ltd
Old Mutual Health Insurance Ltd
Outsurance Insurance Co. Ltd

Santam Ltd
SASRIA SOC Ltd
Saxum Insurance Co. Ltd
Shoprite Insurance Co. Ltd
Standard Insurance Ltd
Sunderland Marine Africa Ltd ***
Unitrans Insurance Co. Ltd
Vodacom
Western National Insurance C. Ltd
Zurich Insurance SA Co. Ltd

									
TOTAL

2,908,968

100.00%

8900

100%

3/1000

9,727

3201

32.91%

								

Please Note:								
*

The Statistics for ABSA Insurance Co. Ltd include statistics for ABSA Idirect and ABSA Insurance Risk Management Services Limited. 		

**	RE: Lombard Insurance: the nil return submitted to the FSB related to personal lines. However, Lombard business is all commercial lines.		
*** New member during the period
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Annual Financial Statements

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Registration number 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval
The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the
content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash
flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an
independent opinion on the financial statements.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting
policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the company and place
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the directors set
standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable
level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the company and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in
ensuring the companyís business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in
the company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While operating risk cannot be fully
eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied
and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.
The Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct has been integrated into company strategies and operations.
The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control provides
reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the financial statements. However, any system of internal
financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The directors have reviewed the companyís cash flow forecast for the year to 31 December 2014 and, in light of this review and the current
financial position, they are satisfied that the company has or had access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.
The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the company’s financial statements. The financial statements
have been examined by the company’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 22.
The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of members, the
board of directors and committees of the board. The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their
audit are valid and appropriate.
The financial statements and additional schedules set out on pages 23 to 38, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved
by the directors on 24 March 2014 and were signed on its behalf by:

Chairman 						

Director
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The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Registration number 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

Directors’ Report
The directors submit their report for the year ended 31 December 2013.
1.

Incorporation

The company was incorporated on 01 January 2001 as an association not-for-gain.

2. Review of activities
Main business and operations
The company provides the services of a mediator between complainants and short term insurance companies.

Registered office

Sunnyside Office Park

			

5th Floor, Building D

			

32 Princess of Wales Terrace

			

Parktown

			

2093

Postal address

PO Box 32334

			

Braamfontein

			

2017

General Information Country of incorporation and domicile
			

South Africa

Level of assurance	These financial statements have been audited in compliance with the applicable requirements of the
Companies Act of South Africa.

Preparer

The financial statements were independently compiled under the supervision of:

			

PI Heslinga CA (SA)

3.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will
be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will
occur in the ordinary course of business.

4.

Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year, which might have a material impact on the
reported results.
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(Registration number 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

5.

Directors

The directors of the company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name					

Changes

JF Myburgh (Chairman)		
WL Knowler (Vice Chairman)		
PG Walters		
J Dixon					

Resigned 18 November 2013

B Scott		
L Bennie		
GW Genis		
NN Zungu		
P Crankshaw
R Semenya			

Resigned 18 November 2013

RS Steyn		
LP Letwaba			

Appointed 01 January 2014

CN Molepe			

Appointed 18 November 2013

6.

Secretary

The secretary of the company is MK Matabane of:
Business address			

Sunnyside Office Park

						

5th Floor, Building D

						

32 Princess of Wales Terrace

						

Parktown

						

2093

Postal address			

PO Box 32334

						Braamfontein
						2017

7.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act of South Africa.
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The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Registration number 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE OMBUDSMAN FOR SHORT-TERM INSURANCE NPC
We have audited the financial statements of the Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC set out on pages 23 to 37 which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance
NPC as at 31 December 2013, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the Companies Act
As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013, we have read the directors’ report for the purpose of
identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between the directors’ report and the audited financial statements. The directors’ report is
the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading the directors’ report we have not identified material inconsistencies between the
report and the audited financial statements. However, we have not audited the directors’ report and accordingly do not express an opinion on
the report.

Supplementary Information
The supplementary information set out on page 38 does not form part of the financial statements and is presented as additional information.
We have not audited the schedule and accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: J. R. Mistri
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg
25 March 2014
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2013
			2013
		

2012

Notes			

			R

R

Assets				
Non - Current Assets				
Property, plant and equipment

4

1,026,906

801,359

Intangible assets

5

171,115

246,888

1,198,021

1,048,247

			
			

Current Assets				
Trade and other receivables

8

4,112,931

2,762,306

Cash and cash equivalents

9

11,379,093

11,105,935

15,492,024

13,868,241

			

Total Assets		
16,690,045
14,916,488
Equity and Liabilities				
Equity				
Retained income		

3,374,832

369,606

Liabilities				
Non - Current Liabilities				
Retirement benefit obligation

7

501,536

516,721

Current Liabilities				
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Provisions

12
10
11

			

5,290,198
7,298,600
224,879

4,854,461
8,883,700
292,000

12,813,677

14,030,161

Total Liabilities		
13,315,213
14,546,882
Total Equity and Liabilities

16,690,045

14,916,488

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
					
2013

2012

Notes

R

R

Revenue

14

29,494,500

27,877,900

Other income

15

2,226

45,504

Operating expenses

16

(27,122,218)

(25,315,328)

		
		

Operating surplus		
2,374,508

2,608,076

Finance income

17

632,872

672,913

Finance costs

18

(2,154)

(8,439)

Surplus for the year		
3,005,226
Other comprehensive income		

3,272,550

-

-

Total comprehensive income		
3,005,226

3,272,550

		

Statement of Changes in Equity

			

Retained income

Total equity

			R

R

Balance at 01 January 2012		
(2,902,944)

(2,902,944)

Surplus for the year		
3,272,550
Other comprehensive income		

3,272,550

-

-

3,272,550

3,272,550

Balance at 01 January 2013		
369,606

369,606

Total comprehensive income for the year		

Surplus for the year		
Other comprehensive income		

3,005,226
-

3,005,226
-

Total comprehensive income for the year		

3,005,226

3,005,226

Balance at 31 December 2013		
3,374,832

3,374,832

				
		

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows
2013

2012

Notes

R

R

21

269,333

1,626,639

Finance income		

632,872

672,913

Finance costs		

(2,154)

(8,439)

Net cash from operating activities		900,051

2,291,113

		
		

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

4

(615,069)

(185,118)

Proceeds from sale of zero valued property,
plant and equipment

4

50

(115,779)

Purchase of other intangible assets

5

(11,874)

(191,524)

Net cash from investing activities		
(626,893)

(492,421)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance lease payments		

-

(65,342)

Total cash, cash equivalents and bank
overdrafts movement for the year		273,158

1,733,350

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts
at the beginning of the year		

11,105,935

9,372,585

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9

11,379,093

11,105,935

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements

25

The Ombudsman For Short-Term Insurance Annual Report 2013

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Registration number 2000/030638/08)
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Accounting Policies
1.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the Companies Act of South
Africa. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement of investment properties and certain
financial instruments at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South African Rands.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
•		 it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company; and
•		 the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.
Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to,
replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
Property, plant and equipment is carried at the revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is restated proportionately
with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.
The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to retained earnings when the
asset is derecognised.
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each part of the assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Item							Average useful life
Furniture and fixtures			

5 years

Computer equipment			

4 years

Depreciation methods,useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within ‘Other income ‘
in the statement of comprehensive income.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

1.2 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Item							Useful life
Software					

4 years

1.3 Financial instruments
Classification
The company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
Financial instruments are derecognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. On initial recognition,
financial instruments are recognised on trade date at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are
measured as set below.
A financial liability is derecognised when it is legally extinguished.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables originated by the company are stated at cost. Trade and other receivables are recognised according to the contractual
terms on registered cases.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisations.

Financial asset
A financial asset is derecognised when the company loses control over the contractual rights that comprise an asset and consequently transfers
substantively all the risk and benefits associated with the asset on trade date. This occurs when the rights are realised, expire or are surrendered.

1.4 Leases
Leases of property and equipment where the company assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Fixed assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the estimated present value of the underlying lease payments and are
depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of property, plant and equipment. Corresponding rental obligations, net
of finance charges, are included in other long term payables. Lease finance charges are amortised over the duration of the leases by the effective
interest rate method which takes into account the effective interest charge on the lease.
Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements

27

The Ombudsman For Short-Term Insurance Annual Report 2013

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Registration number 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013

1.5 Impairment
The carrying amounts of the company’s assets are reviewed at the statement of financial position date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is estimated and any impairment loss is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income for the difference between the recoverable amount and carrying amount. The recoverable amount is
the amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

1.6 Revenue
Revenue represents fees charged for complaints received against insurers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, and represents amounts receivable for services provided, stated net of discounts, credit notes and value added taxes. The company
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity. Revenue is recognised based on actual closed complaints cases.
Penalty income of double the current fee is charged to insurers for delays in resolving matters.

1.7 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
•		 the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
•		 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
•		 a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. Historical data are used to
estimate the provision for credit notes to be approved in the subsequent year which relates to the provision financial year.

1.8 Interest income
Interest is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a time proportionate basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and
the effective interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is probable that such income will accrue to the company.

1.9 Post retirement medical aid benefit liability
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income as
incurred.

1.10 Deferred income
Income received that relates to future financial periods is recognised as deferred income.
Insurers are billed in accordance with the cases that have been registered for the financial year and revenue is recognised based on cases that have
been closed. As such, cases that have not yet been closed at the end of the reporting period represent deferred income.

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
2.

New Standards and Interpretations

There were no standards and interpretations that were adopted in the current year that have a material impact on the financial statements.

3. Risk management
Capital risk management
The company manages capital risk by aiming to maintain capital reserves that will enable the company to cover at least five months of operating
expenditure.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk indicates a company’s ability to meet its financial obligations. The company has various cash management procedures and processes
in place. The company funds are available within 32 days.
No maturity profile has been provided for liabilities as all accounts payable at year end will be settled within 3 months. Refer to note for the
maturity profile of the finance lease liability, which matured during the current year.

Market risk
The company’s exposure to market risk is limited to interest rate risk. There is no exposure to currency risk as all transactions are Rand
denominated and there is no exposure to other market risks. The company monitors the South African economy and the decisions taken by the
South African monetary committee on treasury matters.

Interest rate risk
The company holds funds with financial institutions. There is a risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of the changes
in the market interest rates. The company monitors the credit rating of these financial institutions to ensure that no variation from predetermined
expectations exists.
A two percent change in interest rates would have changed equity and surplus to the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other
variables remain constant.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the inability or unwillingness of counterparty to a financial instrument to discharge its contractual obligations.
The company is exposed to the following credit risk:
				
		
2013
2012
			R
R
Financial instrument				
Trade and other receivables		
4,112,931
2,762,306
Cash and cash equivalents		
11,379,093
11,105,935
		

Sensitivity analysis		

Surplus for the year

Reported as at 31 December 2013		
3,005,226
				

Equity
3,374,832

Fluctuations taking into account the following variables:			
Increase in interest rate by 2 percentage points		

3,232,808

3,602,414

Decrease in interest rate by 2 percentage points		

2,777,644

3,147,250

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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4.

Property, plant and equipment

						
2013			
2012

			
Cost

		

Accumulated

			depreciation

Carrying

Cost

Accumulated

value		depreciation

Carrying
value

Furniture and fixtures

882,756

(662,918)

219,838

860,069

(630,793)

229,276

Computer equipment

2,252,178

(1,445,110)

807,068

1,709,825

(1,137,742)

572,083

Total

3,134,934

(2,108,028)

1,026,906

2,569,894

(1,768,535)

801,359

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 2013
							
		

Opening balance

Additions

Write off cost

Write off

Depreciation

Closing

					
accumulated 		
balance
					
depreciation		
Furniture and fixtures

229,276

71,426

(48,738)

48,738

(80,864)

219,838

Computer equipment

572,083

543,643

(1,289)

1,289

(308,658)

807,068

		

801,359

615,069

(50,027)

50,027

(389,522)

1,026,906

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 2012
						
Opening balance

		

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Closing

							
balance
Furniture and fixtures		

157,620

148,356

(2,621)

(74,079)

229,276

Computer equipment		

888,750

36,762

(2,518)

(350,911)

572,083

			
1,046,370

185,118

(5,139)

(424,990)

801,359

Included in computer equipment is a telephone system that was acquired through a finance lease . Refer to note 13 and 22.

5.

Intangible assets

						
2013			
2012

			
Cost

		

Accumulated

Carrying value

Cost

Accumulated

Carrying value

			amortisation			amortisation
Software

781,591

(610,476)

171,115

769,716

(522,828)

246,888

Reconciliation of intangible assets 2013
					
				
Opening balance
Software			

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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5.

Intangible assets (continued)

Reconciliation of intangible assets 2012
					
				
Opening balance
Software			

Additions

Amortisation Closing balance

191,524

(61,096)

246,888

					

Loans and

Total

6.

116,460

Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2013
						
receivables
Trade and other receivables					

4,112,931

4,112,931

Cash and cash equivalents					

11,379,093

11,379,093

						
15,492,024

15,492,024

2012
						
Loans and

Total

						
receivables
Trade and other receivables					

2,762,306

2,762,306

Cash and cash equivalents					

11,105,935

11,105,935

						13,868,241

13,868,241

2013

2012

R

R

7.

Retirement benefits

					
Balance sheet obligations for:						
Retirement benefits					

501,536

516,721

			

Post retirement medical aid benefits
Movements for the year
						
Movement in the obligation recognised in the statement of financial position		
Opening defined benefit obligation					

516,721

398,649

Interest cost					

21,847

35,343

Actuarial loss					

-

115,848

Benefits paid					

(37,032)

(33,119)

Closing defined benefit obligation				

501,536

516,721

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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7.

Retirement benefits (continued)

Assumptions used
Discount rate and medical aid inflation:
The post retirement medical aid benefits are actuarially valued at the discretion of management, at intervals of no more than three years on
the projected unit credit method. The post retirement medical aid liability was last valued as at December 2012. Management assesses key
assumptions used in the latest available actuarial valuation on an annual basis. Management did not identify any significant differences when
assumption used in the December 2012 valuation were compared to medical aid inflation and the discount rate prevailing as at 31 December
2013. The discount rate was set equal to the yield on a zero coupon government bond with a term of approximately 8 years. Medical aid
inflation was estimated based on the Consumer Price Index plus a 1% to 2% margin. The principal assumptions are as follows:
2013

2012

R

R

Discount rate					

8.00%

8.00%

Medical aid inflation					

6.83%

6.83%

				

Mortality:
The PA90(f) (Female Immediate Annuitants) table was used to calculate the obligation as there is one ex-employee on the post-retirement
medical plan.
The following amounts were recognised in the statement of Comprehensive Income:
					
Interest cost					

21,847

35,343

Actuarial (gain)/loss					

-

115,848

					
Sensitivity analysis				

MEDICAL AID INFLATION
Central

-1%

1%

					
assumption
					
6.93%		
Defined benefit obligation liability 31 December 2013 (Rí)			

501,536

459,007

350,544

% Change				

-

8.5%

9.8%

							
2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

Present value of the medical aid obligation		

501,536

516,721

398,649

428,494

424,518

Deficit in the plan		

501,536

516,721

398,649

428,494

424,518

			

Experience adjustments
There were no significant experience adjustments in the past four years.
		

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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			2013

2012

			R

R

8.

Trade and other receivables

						
Trade receivables		

-

VAT			

81,880

57,479

Accrued income		

-

821,800

Under invoiced in current year		

3,987,660

1,841,900

Other receivables		

43,391

33,770

4,112,931

2,762,306

			

7,357

				

9.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
					
Bank balances		

11,379,093

11,105,935

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.
Bank and cash balances earned interest at rates of approximatly 5.2% on the call account and 1.5% on the current account during the year.
The bank held the following guarantees in respect of a finance lease held with Growthpoint for the building.
					
Guarantee by the bank		

126,883

126,883

The extent of facilities with the client:
				
Asset based finance facility		

81,576

81,576

Letters of guarantee facility		

254,000

254,000

			

335,576

335,576

Balance brought forward on open cases		

8,883,700

11,730,790

Opening balance adjustment		

388,100

-

10. Deferred income

Registered cases in current year		

28,104,000

25,545,010

Total closed cases in current year		

(29,884,000)

(28,062,600)

100% credit notes		

(207,000)

(405,100)

Accrued income		

13,800

75,600

7,298,600

8,883,700
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2013

2012

R

R

11. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions 2013
					
				 Opening
Raised during
				
balance
the year
Audit fees			
292,000
174,900

Utilised during Closing balance
the year
(242,021)
224,879

Reconciliation of provisions 2012
					
				 Opening Utilised during Reversed during
				
balance
the year
the year
Audit fees			
115,830
(115,830)
292,000

Closing
balance
292,000

12. Trade and other payables
						
Accrued salaries					
25,238
Sundry creditors					
49,804
Cash received in advance					
4,108,855
Accrued expenses					
213,866
Leave accrual					
892,435
Finance lease liability					
						
5,290,198
			

131
1,200,154
2,771,500
251,365
572,051
59,260
4,854,461

13. Financial liabilities by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2013
			
						
Financial
						
liabilities at
						
amortised cost
Trade and other payables					
5,290,198
Deferred income					
7,298,600
						
12,588,798
		

Total

5,290,198
7,298,600
12,588,798

2012
						
Financial
						
liabilities at
						
amortised cost
Trade and other payables					
4,854,461
Deferred income					
8,883,700
			
						
13,738,161
The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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2013

2012

			

R

R

14. Revenue
						
Fee income					

29,884,000

28,062,600

Penalty income					

791,000

746,200

Credit note adjustments					

(1,180,500)

(930,900)

29,494,500
						

27,877,900

15. Other income
					
Other income					

2,176

45,504

Profit and loss on sale of assets and liabilities					

50

-

						
2,226

45,504

			

16. Expenses by nature
					
Computer expenses					

900,307

862,006

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments					

477,169

486,086

Employee costs					

21,005,379

19,487,182

Lease rentals on operating lease					

1,154,440

1,059,119

Other expenses					

3,003,056

3,074,770

Public relations					

581,867

346,165

Total operating expenses					
27,122,218

25,315,328

			
		

17. Finance income
						
Finance income earned on cash and cash equivalents					

632,872

672,913

18. Finance costs
						

Interest payments for the finance lease liability					
2,154

8,439

			

19. Taxation
The Ombudsman for the Short Term Insurance NPC is an association not-for-gain.
In terms of Section 30 of the the Income Tax Act, the company is exempt from taxation.

20. Auditors’ remuneration
						
Fees 					
271,320

397,276

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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2013

2012

R

R

21. Cash generated from operations
						
Profit before taxation					

3,005,226

3,272,550

Adjustments for:						
Depreciation and amortisation					

477,169

Profit on sale of assets					

(50)

486,086
120,918

Interest received					

(632,872)

(672,913)

Finance costs					

2,154

8,439

(Decrease)/increase in post retirement medical aid benefit obligation				

(15,185)

118,072

Increase in provisions					

(67,121)

176,170

Changes in working capital:						
Trade and other receivables					

(1,350,625)

Trade and other payables					

435,737

1,415,869
(451,462)

Deferred income					

(1,585,100)

(2,847,090)

						
269,333

1,626,639

22. Commitments
Operating lease commitment
Operating lease commitment consists of leases of the offices building and office equipment. The new office rental contract will escalate at 9% on
the lease anniversary and expire on 31 May 2014. The equipment leases have a duration of 3 years with an option of renewal.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under operating lease are as follows:
				

Operating lease commitment					
Payable within
						

Payable within

one year two to five years

						R

R

Copiers, scanners and fax machine					

211,843

179,648

Building					

481,017

-

						
692,860

179,648

Summary of borrowings arrangements:
•		The finance lease agreement relates to a telephone system with a lease terms of 3 years at prime interest rate. The obligation under 		
		
•

the agreement is secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.
The carrying amounts of current borrowing approximate their fair value.

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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2013
						R

2012
R

23. Related parties
Relationships
			
Related party transactions

Directors fees paid					
Non - executive directors					
253,800
Non - executive independent directors					
293,775
		
						
547,575
		

229,060
97,621
326,681

24. Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will
be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments
will occur in the ordinary course of business.

25. Events after the reporting period
The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year, which might have a material impact on the
reported results.

The notes on page 29 -37 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Detailed Income Statement
			2013
		
Notes
R

Revenue

14

29,494,500

2012
R
27,877,900

Other income				
Other income		
2,176
45,504
Finance income
17
632,872
672,913
Gains on disposal of assets		
50
635,098
718,417
			
Expenses		

(27,122,218)

Operating surplus		
3,007,380
Finance costs

18

(2,154)

Profit for the year		
3,005,226
Other comprehensive income		
Total comprehensive income for the year		

3,005,226

(25,315,328)
3,280,989
(8,439)
3,272,550
3,272,550

Operating expenses				
Auditors remuneration
20
271,320
397,276
Bank charges		
23,928
24,182
Cleaning		5,400
5,400
Computer expenses		
900,307
862,006
Consulting and professional fees		
109,626
64,021
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments		
477,169
486,086
Donations		
5,000
5,000
Employee costs		
21,005,379
19,487,182
Entertainment		
28,094
31,738
FSOS council levies		
5,000
Insurance		
106,466
94,057
Lease rentals on operating lease		
1,154,440
1,059,119
Legal expenses		
15,154
19,535
Loss on disposal of assets		
120,918
Other expenses		
779,604
728,807
Postage		
19,512
25,289
Printing and stationery		
577,978
574,994
Public relations		
581,867
346,165
Repairs and maintenance		
33,401
32,620
Staff welfare		
78,664
70,894
Telephone and fax		
507,373
495,343
Travel - local		
68,322
48,846
Travel - overseas		
51,258
47,982
Utilities		
309,629
282,868
Workmans compensation		
12,327
					
			
27,122,218
25,315,328
The supplementary information presented does not form part of the financial statements and is unaudited
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CAse Studies

The Fourth Raadsaal, Bloemfontein, Free State Province

1 	Non-compliance with the
SAIA Code of Conduct
Standard Insurance Ltd

the claim, namely that the theft was not

Ombudsman was of the view that the claim

accompanied by forcible and violent entry

should be met.

into or exit from the building.
The words on the pamphlet “cover includes”

The insured claimed for certain items lost in a

All that the insurer could provide was a one

may well be interpreted to mean that this

theft at her spaza shop apparently committed

page pamphlet which had been given to

is additional to the standard cover already

by a security guard whom she had employed.

the insured when the policy incepted. The

described higher up on the pamphlet. The

The insurer, in its repudiation letter, stated

pamphlet described the standard cover at

policy documentation was never sent to the

that one of the insured’s employees was

the premises which, amongst other things,

insured as there were no postal deliveries

involved in or was an accessory to the theft

covered general contents and stock up to

at the risk address. The insurer was referred

which was a specific exclusion under the

R30,000 and money up to R5,000. However,

to the SAIA Code of Conduct, and in

theft/burglary section of the policy.

the pamphlet then proceeds, lower down

particular clause 7.1.7 thereof, which had not

on the pamphlet, to state that “cover

been complied with. This requires that an

Complainant’s Views

includes.... theft (following forcible entry into

insured makes “every reasonable attempt to

The insured complained that she never

the building) and accidental damage, the

ensure that the client understands the policy

received a clear explanation of the most

maximum payable is R5,000 for each claim.”

documents” etc.

She has never received a copy of the policy.

The Ombudsman’s views

The insurer was advised that unless it showed

In fact there were no postal deliveries at the

The insurer’s repudiation letter stated the

good cause, in writing, why the claim should

risk address. The insured also denied the

reason for the repudiation namely that one

not be paid, then the claim should be settled.

insurer’s allegation that she had handed the

of the insured’s employees was involved in

The insurer agreed to settle the claim.

key of the spaza shop to the landlord prior

or was an accessory to the loss. The letter

to the theft.

of repudiation did not record a defensible

important terms and conditions of the policy.

Insurer’s Views
In the insurer’s response to this office, the
insurer raised a further reason for rejecting

40

ground for repudiation as the insurer’s
statement that the guard was employed
by the complainant was proven to be
factually incorrect. On this ground alone the

Case Studies

2 	Driving under the influence:
Onus of proof

been arrested with a charge of driving under

officer to obtain his statement. The insurer

the influence of alcohol. He also stated that

was also unable to furnish a copy of the

Mutual & Federal Insurance Co. Ltd

he did not try to flee the accident scene.

blood test results or any other evidence to

The complainant submitted that he exited

indicate that the complainant was arrested

Details of the claim

the vehicle through the passenger door due

and/or detained under the suspicion of

The complainant was involved in a motor

to the extent of damages sustained to the

driving whilst under the influence of alcohol.

vehicle accident on 21 July 2012. He was on

vehicle on the driver’s side. He also stated

his way home from a funeral. He reported

that he has a prosthetic leg and this would

In the case of Swart vs. Mutual & Federal

that he drove into the back of two vehicles at

explain why he may have appeared to be

Insurance Co. Ltd (10352/2004) [2009]

a traffic light. Upon investigating the claim, the

unsteady on his feet.

ZAWCHC 107 (4 August 2009), the

insurer concluded that the complainant was

Western Cape High Court held that for

under the influence of alcohol at the time of

The Ombudsman’s view

the offence of driving under the influence of

the loss. This was in breach of the insurer’s

Whilst reviewing the recorded conversations

intoxicating liquor “it is sufficient to show that

policy terms and conditions. Therefore the

between the insurer’s assessor, the third

the skill and judgment normally required in the

claim was declined by the insurer.

parties and the towing operator, it became

manipulation of a motor car is diminished or

apparent that the assessor had asked a lot

impaired as a direct result of the consumption

of leading questions. Be that as it may, the

of alcohol. The judgment of a driver is impaired

witnesses merely stated that the complainant

not only when his vision is dulled or his

‘behaved strangely’ and was ‘unsteady on

judgment blunted or his muscular reactions to

his feet’. In the Ombudsman’s view the fact

communicate from his brain made sluggish, but

that the complainant behaved strangely was

when the consumption of liquor has induced an

inconclusive and the prosthetic leg would

exuberant, over optimistic frame of mind which

quite easily explain why he appeared to be

causes him to take risks which he would not

unsteady on his feet. One of the third parties

have taken but for the liquor he has consumed.”

stated that he suspected that the complainant

The court further held that the inference to

had fallen asleep behind the wheel and this

be drawn must be based on objective facts

was indeed probable. The witnesses further

not conjecture and speculation and that

stated that they did not get close enough to

there, “there can be no inference unless there

the complainant to smell alcohol as he was

are objective facts from which to infer other

being attended to by paramedics.

facts which it is sought to establish.”

Despite numerous requests made by this

The evidence presented by the insurer was

office, the insurer failed to furnish any written

not sufficient to establish, on a balance of

or recorded statement of the paramedic

probabilities, that the complainant was under

to substantiate the submissions made. The

the influence of alcohol at the time of the

insurer also failed to submit a record of the

accident. The insurer had failed to discharge

complainant’s admission that he was under

its onus of proof and a recommendation was

that he was under the influence of alcohol at

the influence of alcohol at the time of the

made that it should reconsider the claim.

the time of the loss.

loss. In addition to this, whilst reference

The insurer’s argument
The insurer argued that, from the evidence
of the third parties involved in the accident
as well as the towing operator who attended
the scene of the accident, the complainant
was

under

the

influence

of

alcohol.

According to the insurer, the witnesses
stated that the complainant smelt of alcohol,
was unsteady on his feet and his speech was
slurred. The witnesses also informed the
insurer that the complainant attempted to
flee the scene of the accident before police
officials arrived. According to submissions
furnished by the insurer, the complainant
was detained by the police, who later arrived
at the accident scene, and taken for blood
testing. The insurer also submitted that
paramedics who attended the scene of the
accident confirmed that the complainant
was under the influence of alcohol. The
insurer submitted that the complainant had
admitted during the assessment of the claim

was made to the complainant having been

The insurer subsequently agreed to settle

The complainant’s response

detained by the police and taken for blood

the claim.

The complainant disputed all allegations that

testing, the insurer failed to secure a copy of

he was under the influence of alcohol or had

the police report or interview the arresting
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3 	Policy exclusion:
Intentional Act by a
member of the household
OUTsurance
The complainant enjoyed comprehensive
building cover under a policy with the insurer
for her home which she had shared with her
husband (since deceased) and children. The
property was damaged by fire on 27 May
2013. A claim was made against the insurer
which was subsequently declined on the

Assessment findings revealed that the fire

After establishing that the relevant terms

was intentionally set by the complainant’s

of the policy exclusion were brought to

husband in an attempt to commit suicide.

the complainant’s attention in accordance

He unfortunately passed away in the fire. In a

with the Policyholder Protection Rules and,

written statement, the complainant’s brother

further, that the exclusion relied upon by

in law submitted that the complainant’s late

the insurer was material to the loss, the

husband had contacted him on 26 May 2013
after a domestic dispute with his wife. He
was very emotional and threatened to kill
himself. On 27 May 2013, the complainant’s
husband had advised the complainant’s
brother in law that he had purchased petrol
with the intention of burning himself in the

Ombudsman upheld the insurer’s decision to
repudiate the claim.
An insurance policy is a contract which covers
the insured in the event of certain insured
events having taken place, including damage

ground that the loss or damage was “caused

house. When the complainant’s brother

caused by fire. However, an insurance policy

intentionally by … members of your household”.

in law arrived at the house later that day,

is subject to specific exclusions, terms and

This was a specific exclusion contained in the

he found the house burnt down with his

conditions which are set out in the policy

policy terms and conditions.

deceased brother inside.

wording.

Three Rondavals, Mpumalanga Province
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In accordance with the above

Case Studies

findings, the loss suffered in this unfortunate

insurer’s representative had confirmed that

The insured started experiencing engine

event was excluded from the ambit of cover

her policy was cancelled due to fraud.

problems with the vehicle in January 2011. He

provided by the policy.

4

Cancellation of a policy
OUTsurance

then took the vehicle back to the dealership
The insurer was advised that as there was

in February 2011 and the vehicle was

no fraudulent activity by the complainant or

repaired at no cost to the insured. According

in respect of the complainant’s policy, the

to the insured, he then started experiencing

insurer had not acted in compliance with its

gearbox problems and when the vehicle

In her details of complaint the complainant

own policy wording which provided that the

was again at the dealership for a service, the

advised that on 12 July 2012 she had received

insurer needed to give the complainant 30

dealership attempted to diagnose and rectify

notification from her bank that an amount

days notice of cancellation of the policy. The

the gearbox problem. The problem however

of R1093.04 had been deposited into her

insurer was also advised that the relevant

persisted and the insured once again, in

account. Upon enquiring with the insurer

clause of the policy wording entitling the

September 2012, took the vehicle back to

the complainant was advised that her motor

insurer to cancel the complainant’s policy

policy had been cancelled by OUTsurance.

retrospectively was not applicable in this

The reason for the cancellation was that the

instance as the policy specifically required

complainant was noted as the regular driver

that the fraud would have to be perpetrated

on a Mr O’s policy who had submitted a

by the complainant or someone acting on

fraudulent household contents claim which

her behalf. The insurer had not shown any

had led to the rejection of his claim and

fraud on the part of the complainant.

the cancellation of his policy. Therefore the
complainant’s policy was also being cancelled.

The insurer was therefore asked to reinstate

The complainant advised that she was not

the policy which the insurer agreed to do.

married to Mr O. However they lived
together as he was the father of her children.
She however denied any wrongdoing
or association with the fraudulent claim

5	Extended Motor Vehicle
Warranty Policy
Guardrisk Ins. Co. Ltd

submitted by Mr O.

Details of complaint
The insurer advised that the complainant’s

The insured purchased a vehicle from a dealer

policy was cancelled when Mr O’s policy

in Benoni on 27 October 2010. The vehicle

was cancelled due to a fraudulent claim.

was sold to him as a ‘Master Car’ which meant

The complainant was a member of Mr O’s

that the vehicle was, in the opinion of the

household and according to the insurer she

dealer, of a particular standard and complied

was therefore fully aware of the fraudulent

with certain requirements in terms of the

activity on Mr O’s claim. However, she had

presale inspection.The insured also purchased

chosen to remain silent. The insurer had

a Master Car Warranty policy, which policy

therefore reconsidered the complainant’s

incepted on 9 November 2010. The Master

risk profile and decided to cancel her policy

Car policy was purchased by the insured

as well. Although the cancellation reason did

on the basis that the policy did not limit the

not refer to fraud the complainant would

insurer’s liability in respect of the quantum of

still have to disclose this cancellation when

the claims, except that repairs to the vehicle

seeking alternative cover.

could not exceed the purchase price of the
vehicle.The policy provided that the period of

the dealer for repairs.
The dealer was unable to establish the
source of the problem and then referred the
vehicle to a gearbox specialist. The gearbox
specialist contacted the insured to advise him
of the options with regard to the repairs to
the gearbox. They also informed the insured
that the insurer would only cover R6 000
being the policy limit and that the balance of
the costs would be for his own account. The
insured at this stage contacted the dealer to
enquire why the insurer was only prepared
to pay R6 000 when the only limit on the
Master Car policy was that the repairs costs
should not exceed the purchase price of
the vehicle.
The insured was informed by the dealer that
the insurer had determined that the Master
Car policy should not have been sold to the
insured in the first place as the vehicle was
older than 5 years at the time of purchase
and that in order to qualify for a Master Car
policy, the vehicle could not be older than
5 years or the mileage on the vehicle could
not exceed 120 000 kilometres. The insurer,
upon realising this, unilaterally changed the
policy to a MotorMend policy, which policy
contained limits of cover in respect of the
items that could be claimed for.

The complainant denied any knowledge of

insurance would be for two years and would

It appears that the change in the policy was

the fraudulent claim but advised that the

expire on 8 November 2012.

only brought to the insured’s attention on
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4 October 2012, as noted in an email from the

balance of R13 305.67 without informing the

him about the change to a MotorMend

dealer to the insured on this date. It was at this

insured of this, despite the dealer’s contention

policy, despite the insurer’s allegation that the

stage also brought to the insured’s attention

that this should in fact have been paid by the

insured was aware of the change.

that with regard to the claim in February

insured himself. The insured was therefore

2011, the total repair costs amounted to

at all stages under the impression that the

The insured therefore approached this office

R21 805.67 and that the insurer had only

entire February 2011 claim had been paid

seeking our intervention for the payment of

paid R8 500 as per the limit of liability for

for by the insurer in terms of a Master Car

the gearbox claim by the insurer in terms of

engine damage in respect of a MotorMend

policy. Furthermore, the insured denied that

the Master Car policy and not in terms of a

policy. Significantly, the dealer had paid the

the insurer or the dealer had ever informed

MotorMend policy.
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The insurer’s view

policy, the underwriter could therefore only

Master Car policy and therefore could not

The insurer responded to the complaint by

honour the benefits payable in terms of the

honour the benefits claimed in terms of the

stating that according to their administrator’s

MotorMend policy. The insurer also attached

Master Car policy. The insurer merely added

records, the insured was covered under

a blank proposal form for the MotorMend

that ‘in any event, this vehicle would not have

a MotorMend Universal Pre-owned two

policy in support of its argument. With regard

qualified for a Master Car policy.’

year warranty, which policy incepted on

to the Master Car policy, the underwriter

9 November 2010 and which expired on

claimed to have no record of this policy

The insured’s view

8 November 2012. As the underwriter

in the insured’s name and therefore the

3.1 The insured denied being in possession

only accepted the risk of the MotorMend

underwriter did not accept the risk of a

of a MotorMend policy or ever having

Quiver Tree, Augrabies National Park, Augrabies, Northern Cape Province
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received policy documents or schedules in

Furthermore, a claim was paid on 14 January

of the insurer when selling the Master Car

respect of a MotorMend policy. The insured

2011 under the MotorMend policy in the

policy to the insured.

reiterated that he had been issued with a

amount of R8 500.The insurer was therefore

Master Car policy when the vehicle was

only willing to settle the gearbox claim for

No evidence has been provided by the

purchased. The insured also provided signed

the maximum benefit of R6 000 payable

insurer that the variation to the agreement

copies of the Master Car policy in support

under the MotorMend policy.

was in writing and that the insured agreed to

of his statement that a Master Car policy

the terms and conditions of the MotorMend

had been issued. He also argued that the

The Ombudsman’s View

policy. Any such variation, if at all, was not

underwriter’s poor record keeping should

The insured was insured in terms of a Master

done in accordance with the then SAIA

not be to his prejudice as the fact remained

Car Warranty policy, which policy was

Code of Conduct, more specifically section

that a Master Car policy had been sold

unilaterally changed to a MotorMend policy

9 dealing with Insurance Sales and Policy

to him.

on an unknown date. The insurer had failed

Maintenance. Section 9.5 states that “It is the

to provide any evidence in substantiation of

duty of an insurer and its associates to make

The insured also stated that he purchased the

its allegation that the MotorMend policy had

every reasonable attempt to ensure that the

vehicle as a Master Car, with the condition

been sold to the insured. The insurer had

policyholder understands the policy documents,

that the vehicle was a Master Car. In other

therefore been requested by the office to

the extent of the cover, the exclusions, the

words, he would not have purchased the

settle the claim in full in terms of the Master

vehicle had he been told that the vehicle did

special terms and conditions, and all relevant

Car policy which had been issued to the

not qualify as a Master Car.The dealership also

aspects of the policy including excesses, the

insured on 9 November 2010.

relevance of regular and nominated drivers, no

provided him with documents as a means of
satisfying both themselves and the insured
of the eligibility of the vehicle to qualify as a
Master Car. These documents had also been
attached to the insured’s complaint.
The insured further maintained that should
the underwriter at any stage not have been
satisfied with the policy that had been issued,
then they had a duty to approach the insured
with regards to changing the policy and to
obtain the insured’s consent. However, this
was never done.

The insurer’s further view
The insurer reiterated that “Eligibility” in the
Master Car policy wording requires the vehicle
to be less than 5 years old. As the vehicle
was first registered on 24 January 2005 and
the Master Car policy’s effective date was 9
November 2010, the vehicle was 5 years and
9 months old at the time of purchase and
therefore did not qualify for the Master Car
policy. The underwriter would therefore not
have accepted the risk on this vehicle. The
dealer would have advised the insured of this
and offered an alternative product.
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claim bonuses, etc. Terminology and language
The insurer was however only prepared to

should be clear and not ambiguous”.

settle the claim based on the limit of cover
provided in terms of the MotorMend policy

Furthermore, Section 9.8 of the SAIA Code

for R6 000. Alternatively, as there was no

of Conduct states that “If an insurer or its

meeting of the minds, the policy would be

associate declines to provide the customer with

voided and the insured would then owe

insurance cover, they must:

the insurer an amount of R4 510 being the

•

Provide the reasons for the decision”.

difference between the cost of the product
and the amount paid by the insurer in respect

The insured had applied for Master Car cover

of the claim for the initial engine damage.

and if this cover was refused by the insurer,
the insurer should have provided reasons for

The insurer’s formal response to the insured’s

its decision. It did not do so.

complaint, as furnished to the Ombudsman,
failed to advance any compelling factual

The view was therefore that the insurer

evidence in support of its argument that the

had failed to disclose a valid defence to the

insured was aware of the change in policy.

insured’s claim. As the insurer still refused to

The MotorMend proposal form provided by

abide by the Ombudsman’s view, a provisional

the insurer was blank and therefore did not

ruling was made against the insurer that the

establish that the insured was aware of the

insurer should indemnify the insured for the

change in the policy. The evidence indicated

claim for the damage to gearbox in terms of

that the change had only been brought to

the Master Car policy and that the insurer

the insured’s attention in October 2012, if at

should, in addition, pay to the insured interest

all, which was after the gearbox damage had

on the monetary value of such indemnification,

been reported to the dealer. It is important

to be calculated at 15.5% per annum, from

to note that the dealer acted as the agent

the 1st June 2013 to date of payment.
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The claim was thereafter accepted and paid

Insurer:

The complainant, in particular, referred to

by the insurer.

Having processed the claim, the insurer

the initial conversation that was held with

noticed that the complainant had failed to

the call centre.

6 	Failure to report
accident within 24 hours
to the SAPS

report the accident to the police within 24
hours. The insurer therefore declined liability

Ombudsman:

stating that the complainant was in breach of

The complainant was involved in a single
vehicle accident on 16 June 2012. Immediately
after the collision the complainant contacted
the insurer’s call centre who, in turn, asked
him whether he had called the SAPS yet.
The complainant answered that he had
not. The call centre operator informed the
complainant “not to do anything further”.
The call centre informed him that they were
arranging a breakdown service to uplift the
vehicle and that the complainant must not

“You must inform the South African Police within

specifically informed him not to do anything

The Ombudsman pointed out to the
insurer that the complainant could indicate
and provide a plausible explanation for not
notifying the SAPS timeously of the accident.
In addition to the aforementioned and even
if the complainant’s intentions were bona
fides or not, the insurer could not rely on
a breach of this term without substantiating
that the insurer had suffered prejudice due
to the accident not being reported to the
SAPS within 24 hours. The insurer was
unable to provide any objective evidence
indicating that they had suffered prejudice.
As a result the Ombudsman recommended
that the claim be settled in full. The insurer

contact anyone else.

until such time that they respond to him.

agreed to settle the claim.

Oakhurst

the following term as stated in the applicable
policy agreement:

Merits:
twenty four (24) hours of any claim if it involves
any motor vehicle accident in which the insured
vehicle is involved … “
The complainant sought relief from this
office and stated that he was brought
under the impression by the insurer that
he need not do anything further when they

Sunflowers, North West Province

47

The Ombudsman For Short-Term Insurance Annual Report 2013

7	Cosmetic repair plan
for auto body repairs,
simultaneous claims

complainant had submitted more than one

The items which were recovered did not

claim. The insurance company agreed with

form part of the claim and the insurer was

this and subsequently agreed to register

therefore not prejudiced by any allegation

Lombard Insurance Co. Ltd

three separate claims and indemnified the

made by the complainant that the items

complainant accordingly.

were in working order. It was also pointed

Details of Claim
The complainant submitted a claim for three
different incidents where the insured vehicle

8

Mistake not fraud
OUTsurance

was damaged by stone chips. The claim was

out to the insurer that the mostly electronic
items could have been damaged while in the
burglar’s possession.

submitted with three different quotations

The merits:

It was specifically pointed out that fraud is

from the same repairer.

a serious allegation and that no intention to

maintenance damage and must be claimed

The complainant’s burglary claim was
rejected by the insurer on the basis of fraud
and/or dishonesty.The complainant disclosed,
when reporting the claim to the insurer, that
she believed the stolen bangles to be 18 carat
gold after being requested by the insurer
to choose between 18 and 9 carat. She
supported her answer with the estimated
price that had been paid when purchasing
the bangles. The insurer, further, relied on the
state of some items that had been stolen but
then recovered for their repudiation, on the
basis that some items were not in working
order which had not been disclosed to them
at claim stage. Finally, the insurer relied, for
their repudiation, on an alleged confession
to fraud made by the complainant during an

under your motor insurance policy.

interview with the complainant.

When the motor vehicle is brought in for

The Ombudsman’s view:

maintenance under this plan, you may not

In the OSTI’s opinion the alleged confession
was nothing more than an admission by
the complainant to having possibly made
a mistake. It had, further, been obtained
during a gruelling 2 hour interview with
questions being repeated by the insurer until
a “satisfactory answer” had been obtained by
the insurer.

The complainant advised that he asked his
personal assistant to submit the claim to the
insurer as he was not able to do it personally.

Insurer’s Response
The insurer advised that on receipt of the
claim, the merits of the claim had been
investigated and it was decided to reject
the claim based on the policy terms and
conditions which stated, under maximum
amount for repair or restoration, “any repair
or restoration work in excess of R3,000.00,
including VAT, is not considered to be minor

select to have repairs or restoration carried out
on only certain damages on the motor vehicle
as all damage to the body panels will be taken
into account when calculating the cost for repair
or restoration.”

Ombudsman’s View
This office advised the insurer that the

defraud the insurer had been proved. The
insurer had only managed to prove a mistake,
which did not prejudice the insurer in any
event.

Outcome:
The OSTI recommended that the claim be
settled and the insurer complied and offered
to reinstate the policy which had been
cancelled on the basis of fraud.

9

Insurable interest
Mutual and Federal

The insured advised that she and her exhusband had intermittently stayed together
on and off since their divorce in 2004
In July 2012 the insured’s ex-husband bought
a vehicle for the insured’s use to transport
their child to and from school.
The insured’s ex-husband never insured the
vehicle and the insured took out insurance
on the vehicle as she was the one using the
vehicle.
The insured moved away from the couple’s

less than R3,000. The insurer was advised

It was found that while the complainant may
have incorrectly disclosed that the bangles
were made from 18 carat gold, she had
provided a value to the insurer which was
in line with the price of 9 carat gold bangles.
The claim was therefore not inflated and the
incorrect description could not be attributed

that they should have recognised that the

to anything other than a mistake.

involved in an accident whilst being driven by

complainant’s assistant made a mistake by
not specifying emphatically that the claim
was for three different incidents.
complainant

submitted

three

The

separate

quotations which individually amounted to
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shared residence but continued to insure the
vehicle. The insured’s ex-husband had kept
the vehicle and the complainant no longer
had any interest in the vehicle.
In September 2012 the insured vehicle was

Case Studies

the insured’s ex-husband and was declared a
write off by the insurer.
The insurer, Mutual & Federal, settled the
finance institution and paid the balance to
the insured’s ex-husband.
The insured submitted a complaint to the
Ombudsman arguing that the insurer never
should have paid her ex-husband the balance
but should have paid her as the insured on
the policy.
The Ombudsman advised the insured that

The Ombudsman pointed out to the insured
that the insurer could, in fact, claim back the
money that they had paid when settling the
claim as it should never have been paid; the
payment actually amounted to unjustified
enrichment.
The insured’s ex-husband was not the
insured under the policy and as such was not
entitled to any benefit under the policy.
When the insured left the couple’s shared
residence and the insured vehicle, she no
longer had any insurable interest in the
vehicle.

whilst it was true that the insurer should
never have paid her ex-husband , they could

The Ombudsman advised that this matter

not have paid her either as she did not have

would perhaps be better resolved privately

an insurable interest in the insured vehicle.

between the insured and her ex-husband.

10 	Gap Cover – Pre-existing
conditions and/or prior
treatment
ABSA Insurance Co. Ltd
The insured had been admitted to hospital
for appendicitis. The hospital’s request to
the insurer for authorisation for a total
hysterectomy and ovarian cystectomy
had been declined as the policy excluded
hysterectomies within the first twelve
months of the inception of the policy. The
insurer had also excluded cover for any
procedures relating to abdominal surgery
or abscesses as the insured had received
previous treatment in this regard.
The hospital had at the time of the request
for authorisation apparently provided the

Nguni cattle on the beach, Eastern Cape Province
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ICD 10 code for the request as N83.2
(ovarian cyst) with the secondary code being
for appendicitis and peritonitis.
The insured’s doctor had subsequently
motivated for the account to be paid, stating
that the procedure had been for a Prescribed
Medical Benefit (PMB).
The insurer had rejected the claim mainly on
the ground of the exclusion for pre-existing
conditions for which treatment had been

The insured’s doctor seemed to be changing

The Ombudsman had already indicated, at

his original version of the insured’s treatment

that stage, that on the basis of the facts on

and medical history while supporting the

record, the insurer did not appear to have

insured’s complaint and when challenged
on this, the insured simply responded by
stating that she was not a doctor and could
not comment.
After being advised to consult with the
doctors that she had been using to support

handled the matter incorrectly or unfairly.

11 	No peril rejection/
comprehensive cover
OUTsurance
The insured had registered a claim with the
insurer for damage to a boundary wall. The
insurer had rejected the claim on the ground
that the loss or damage had not been the

received, and had relied on the insured’s own

her claim and from whom the answers

doctor’s letter detailing the medical history

were really required, the insured simply

result of an insured peril.

and the treatment received to the insured.

abandoned the complaint.

In supporting their rejection, the insurer had

Hay bale Bethlehem, Free State Province
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relied on a report which stated that the

insurer’s, or even the bank’s, responsibility to

The Ombudsman, after reviewing all the

damage had been the result of a combination

advise on the property’s structural or other

facts, noted that it was clear that the insured

of one of the following:

shortcomings.

had driven substantially over the speed limit
for the road in question. The insurer was

1. 	The wall was a retainer wall which
had originally been designed with

The Ombudsman accordingly found in

requested to provide the Ombudsman with

favour of the insurer.

the recording done at the inception of the

weeping holes to allow water to
escape, which had subsequently
been blocked
2.		There had been a large tree on

policy where the insured had been advised

12 	Claim rejected on lack of
due care
LLOYD’S

the neighbouring property which

that the device to be installed in the insured’s
vehicle would be used in the validation of
claims. The insurer submitted the recording
and the Ombudsman listened to it. The

The insured was involved in a motor vehicle

Ombudsman noted that the insurer’s agent,

collision on 09 April 2012 at approximately

at the inception of the policy, did advise

According to the insurer there was no

06h59 on the N10 highway. The insured was

the insured that the device installed in the

liability on their part as no insured peril had

driving from Port Elizabeth to Pretoria when

insured’s vehicle “will assist in the investigation

operated.

the accident occurred. The insured, while

of the claim submitted by yourself” and that

The insured had then lodged a complaint

driving at about 100 km/h, entered a curve

the insured agreed to this. The insurer could

with the Ombudsman contending that the

in the road and when trying to bring his

not be faulted for rejecting the insured’s

policy provided comprehensive cover and

vehicle back onto the road, lost control and

claim on the basis of a lack of due care in

that there was no specific clause in the policy

collided with a pedestrian that was standing

terms of the policy. The insurer’s rejection of

which excluded cover. This therefore entitled

on the right side of the road. The pedestrian

the claim was therefore upheld.

him to have the claim paid.

died as a result of injuries sustained in the

had exerted pressure on the wall.

It was a further contention that he had
requested that the insurer should inspect the
property to ensure that the property was
insured for the correct quantum and that
the insurer had failed to do this. This, it was
submitted, also entitled the insured to have
the claim paid.
The Ombudsman pointed out to the
complainant that even though the policy
provided comprehensive cover it was clearly
a listed perils policy. This meant that only
damage or loss caused by the listed perils

aforesaid accident.
The insurer investigated the claim by using a
trip report which assists the insurer to verify
the facts and circumstances of an accident.
The trip report was obtained from the
service provider that installed the device
in the insured’s vehicle. The trip report
showed that the insured had, since 06h38
on the day in question, regularly travelled at
speeds between 132 km/h and 153 km/h.
The insurer established that the speed limit
on the road in question decreased from 100
km/h to 60 km/h and that the speed limit
where the accident occurred was 60 km/h

would be covered.

and the insured was travelling at 136 km/h.

It was further pointed out to the complainant

The insured argued that he was trying to

that the evaluation to ascertain the correct

drive very cautiously as he was concerned

insured amount would not have had any

about the passengers in the vehicle. The

relevance with regards to the extent of cover

insured claimed that he had tried to maintain

provided by the policy. It was also not the

a reasonable speed.

The Big Hole, Kimberley, Northern Cape Province
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TERMS OF REFERENCE

Overlooking Bourkes Luck Potholes, Mpumalanga Province

1. Preamble

the

2.3	
“Ruling” means, with respect to a

1.1	The Ombudsman is appointed to

1.3	The

Ombudsman are not the same as

complaint, a written directive issued by

serve the interest of the insuring public

those rendered by a professional

the Ombudsman which is binding on

and all short-term Insurers registered

legal advisor and are confined purely

the Insurer and which is based either in

under the Short-term Insurance Act

to resolution in terms of clause 3.1

law or equity;

and including Lloyds. The Ombudsman

below or mediation or conciliation in

provides, free of charge, an accessible,

an attempt to settle complaints.

informal and speedy dispute resolution
process

to

Policy

Holders

who

services

rendered

by

2.4	“the

Ombudsman”

means

the

Ombudsman for Short-term Insurance

2. Definitions

appointed from time to time by

have disputes with their Insurers

In these terms of reference the following

the Board of the Ombudsman for

where those disputes fall within the

expressions have the following meanings:

Short-term

Insurance

(Association

Incorporated under Section 21);

Ombudsman’s jurisdiction.
2.1	“the Board” means the Board of
1.2	The Ombudsman acts independently

Directors of the Ombudsman for

and objectively in resolving disputes

Short-term

Insurance

(Association

and is not under instructions from

Incorporated under Section 21);
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office of the Ombudsman established
to perform the functions set out in
these terms of reference;

anybody when exercising his or her
authority. The Ombudsman resolves

2.5	“Ombudsman’s office” means the

2.2	
“the Complainant” means any Policy

disputes using the criteria of law, equity

Holder who makes a complaint to

2.6	“Policy” means a short term insurance

and fairness. These Terms of Reference

the Ombudsman in respect of any

Policy issued by an Insurer to a Policy

define the powers and duties of the

insurance services provided by their

Holder;

Ombudsman.

Insurer;

Terms of Reference

“Policy Holder” means the person

by the Ombudsman) to enable the

which shall be published by 30 May of each

entitled to be provided with the Policy

Ombudsman to assess fully the merits

year. Such report will be available to the

benefits under a Policy;

of the complaint.

public.

2.7

“Insurer” means a short-term insurer

3.4	During any period in which the

registered as such in terms of the Short-term

Ombudsman is unable to exercise his

4.	The jurisdiction of the
Ombudsman

Insurance Act of 1998;

duties owing to absence, incapacity

4.1	The Ombudsman shall only consider a

or death or in a situation where a

complaint made to him if he is satisfied

conflict of interest may arise, the

that:

2.8

3.	The Ombudsman’s
powers and duties
3.1

Board may appoint a deputy or acting
Ombudsman to act in place of the

The Ombudsman shall:

Ombudsman.

4.1.1	
the complaint is not the subject of
existing litigation;

3.1.1	
act within these terms of
3.5	The Ombudsman shall have the

reference;

4.1.2	the complaint is not the subject

relating

overall responsibility for the conduct

of an instruction to an attorney

to the provision within the

of the day to day administration and

in contemplation of litigation

3.1.2	
receive

complaints

Republic of South Africa of

business of the Ombudsman’s office.

against the relevant Insurer

insurance services by an Insurer

The Ombudsman may appoint an

except where the attorney has

to a Policy Holder;

Administrator to be responsible to him

simply assisted the Policy Holder

for day to day matters of administration

in bringing the application to

3.1.3	resolve such complaints, relating

of the Ombudsman’s office.

to the provision of insurance

the Ombudsman;
4.1.3	the complaint does not involve

services, by agreement or by
the making of a ruling or by

3.6	The Ombudsman shall have the power

a monetary claim in excess

such other means as may seem

on behalf of the Ombudsman’s office

of R800 000, but the Insurer

expedient, subject to these

to appoint and dismiss employees,

concerned

terms of reference.

consultants, legal experts, independent

writing to this limitation being

contractors
3.2	The Ombudsman should advise the
public on the procedure for making a

and

agents

and

may

agree

in

to

exceeded. This R800 000 limit

determine their salaries, fees, terms of

shall be subject to review on an

employment or engagement.

annual basis; *

complaint to the Ombudsman’s office
and should take such steps as are

3.7	The Ombudsman shall have the power

*The limits are currently as follows namely,

reasonably possible conducive to client

to incur expenditure on behalf of the

(a) R4 million for house owner’s claims; (b)

and industry education and training.

Ombudsman’s office in accordance

R2 million for all other claims provided that

The Ombudsman shall in his annual

with the current financial budget

(c) in respect of Commercial lines policies, the

report referred to in clause 3.9 below

approved by the Board.

turnover of the insured entity must not exceed

provide details of steps taken in this
regard.

R25 million per annum
3.8	The

Ombudsman

shall

give

the

Board any information and assistance

4.1.4	the complaint is made by

3.3	
On receipt of a complaint in the

which it reasonably requires, including

a Policy Holder or a duly

prescribed format, the Ombudsman

the making of recommendations to

authorised representative of the

will notify the Insurer of the complaint

the Board on any issues which the

Policy Holder to whom or for

by providing the details of the complaint

Ombudsman believes requires the

whom the insurance services in

to the Insurer, and the Insurer shall

Board’s attention.

question were provided;
4.1.5	
the complaint relates to any

then be obliged to give all relevant
information and assistance required

3.9

The Ombudsman shall publish an

dispute in regard to a Policy

(including documentation requested

annual report on the activities of the office,

and/or any Claim or Claims
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regard to insurance premiums,

5.	Limits on the jurisdiction
of the Ombudsman

or any dispute on the legal

Subject to these terms of reference, the

Ombudsman shall (provided that the

construction

Ombudsman shall have the power to

complaint is accepted for adjudication)

consider a complaint made to him except:

commence on the day that it is lodged

thereunder or any dispute in

of

the

Policy

wording relating to a particular

4.1.6	the

Complainant

has

during which a matter is before the

with the Ombudsman’s office to the

complaint complying with the
requirements of this clause 4.1;

6.2	For the purposes of clause 6.1, the time

5.1	Where the Ombudsman determines

tried

that it is more appropriate that the

unsuccessfully to resolve the

complaint be dealt with by a court

dispute through approaches to

of law or through any other dispute

the Insurer’s management or

resolution process;

time that the Ombudsman dismisses
the complaint or makes a Ruling.
6.3	Save as may be otherwise provided
in any other legislation relating to
or governing the Ombudsman, the

its internal complaints handling
5.2	Where the matter is already under the

lodging of any complaint with the

4.1.7	the complaint is being pursued

consideration by the person appointed

Ombudsman shall in no way affect the

reasonably by the Complainant

to adjudicate disputes in terms of the

running of prescription in terms of the

and not in a frivolous, vexatious,

Financial Advisory and Intermediary

Prescription Act, 1969 in respect of

offensive, threatening or abusive

Services Act.

section;

manner, as the Ombudsman

such complaint.

7. Rulings

may decide in his or her sole

6. Time barring provisions

discretion;

6.1	
Any enforceable time bar clauses in

7.1	When all the material facts are agreed

terms of a Policy shall not run against

or the facts have been established to the

a Complainant and shall be interrupted

Ombudsman’s satisfaction on a balance

during the period that the complaint

of probabilities, the Ombudsman may

is under consideration before the

make a Ruling.

4.1.8	the complaint has not become
prescribed in terms of the
Prescription Act, 1969 or any
enforceable time bar provisions
contained in the Policy.
4.2	Should a complaint be lodged with the
Ombudsman’s office and thereafter the
Complainant refers such dispute to an
attorney for the further conduct of the
dispute and/or direct correspondence
with the Insurer, or for litigation, then
the Ombudsman will immediately
withdraw from the matter.
4.3	With the written consent of an Insurer
and at his discretion the Ombudsman
may investigate a complaint which
exceeds his jurisdiction.

Ombudsman. In particular, the Insurer
waives and abandons all or any rights
to rely in subsequent litigation on any

7.2	Rulings shall be based on the law and
equity.

time barring provisions in the Policy
applying to the commencement of

7.3	Where a material fact cannot be

litigation after rejection of a claim, or

established or cannot be resolved

after the happening forming the subject

on a clear balance of probabilities

of the claim or after notification of the

the Ombudsman may not make a

claim. In the event of the complaint

Ruling. In such cases the Ombudsman

being finalised in the office of the

shall advise the Complainant that the

Ombudsman the Complainant shall

complaint is not one on which he or

have 30 (thirty) days or the remaining

she can assist and that alternative

period of the time bar provision of the

recourse may be sought through the

relevant policy, whichever is the longer,

courts.

within which to institute proceedings
against the relevant Insurer, provided

7.4	Any Ruling made by the Ombudsman

however, that the Claim had not
A Complainant may at any time

shall be binding on the Insurer

already become time barred in terms

terminate the Ombudsman’s adjudication of

concerned save where an appeal

of the Policy when the complaint was

the complaint and resort to litigation.

against such Ruling is noted as is

received by the Ombudsman.

provided in Clause 8 below.

4.4
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8.	Right of appeal against
rulings or findings of the
Ombudsman
	(As approved at the Annual
General Meeting on 15 July 2013)

which are of substantial public or

8.6	A Notice of Cross-Appeal shall be

industry interest or importance

delivered within 15 calendar days after

or It is in the interest of justice

delivery of the Notice of Appeal, or

or public policy that the ruling

within such other period of time as may,

or decision be considered by an

upon good cause shown, be permitted

Appeal Tribunal; or

by the Ombudsman. The provisions

8.1	Any party affected by any formal

8.3.4	The ruling or decision involves

of these rules with regard to appeals

ruling or finding on the part of the

principles of law where the

shall equally apply to cross-appeals. A

Ombudsman may appeal against the

law may be considered to be

“cross-appeal” shall mean a process by

ruling or finding of the Ombudsman,

uncertain or unsettled; or

which the respondent in any appeal

dispute

proceedings, having been advised by

context a “Ruling” shall mean, in relation

involves the jurisdiction of the

the Ombudsman of receipt of a notice

to a complaint received, “a written

Ombudsman to entertain the

of intention to appeal, wishes in turn to

directive issued by the Ombudsman

dispute; or

appeal against the terms of the ruling

either in part or in whole.

In this

8.3.5	The

matter

in

which is binding on the insurer and

8.3.6	The issues are of such a nature

or finding made by the Ombudsman in

which is based either in law or equity

that the judgment or order

relation to the complaint submitted to

and fairness or a combination of law

sought by the appellant will not

the Ombudsman.

and equity”. “Finding” shall mean, with

be of academic relevance only

respect to a complaint, “a written

and will have a practical effect

directive issued by the Ombudsman in

or result.

8.7	Where an appeal has been noted,
or an application for leave to appeal
has been made, the operation and

relation to the complaint received in
terms of which the Ombudsman has

8.4	The power to grant leave to appeal

execution of the ruling or finding of

dismissed the complaint or declined

as contemplated in this section shall

the Ombudsman shall be suspended,

to intervene in a dispute between the

not be limited by reason only of the

pending the decision of the Appeal

complainant and insurer”.

value of the matter in dispute, or the

Tribunal on the matter, unless the

amount claimed or awarded by the

Ombudsman, on the application of

8.2	No appeal against the ruling or finding

Ombudsman, or by reason only of

a party and on good cause shown,

of the Ombudsman shall be considered

the fact that the matter in dispute is

otherwise directs.

by any Appeal Tribunal, unless the

incapable of being valued in money.
8.8	Upon receipt of a Notice of Appeal

Ombudsman shall have granted the
8.5	Notice of any intention to appeal

the Ombudsman shall within a period

against any ruling or finding of the

of 5 business days thereafter notify

Ombudsman shall be filed with the

every other party to the dispute that

8.3	The Ombudsman shall only grant leave

Ombudsman within a period of 30

a Notice of Appeal has been received.

to appeal to any appellant where he is

calendar days of the handing down

of the opinion that:

of any ruling or finding and shall

8.9	All documentation in connection with

state whether the appellant appeals

any appeal proceedings including the

8.3.1	There is a reasonable prospect

against the whole or part of the

notice of intention to appeal and the

that the appeal, either in whole

ruling or finding of the Ombudsman,

application for leave to appeal, shall

or in part, if prosecuted, will

the findings of fact and/or ruling of

be served upon the office of the

succeed; and

law appealed against and the grounds

Ombudsman by hand or alternatively

upon which the appeal is founded. The

by way of registered post or by e-mail

notice of intention to appeal shall be

save where the Ombudsman shall

accompanied by an application for

have expressly consented to any other

leave to appeal.

method of service.

applicant leave to appeal against such
ruling or finding.

8.3.2	The matter is one of complexity
or difficulty; or
8.3.3	The ruling or finding in question
involves issues or considerations

Documentation
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served upon the Ombudsman shall be

be granted, the reasons for any non-

in A4 format and shall be clearly legible

compliance and that the matter is one

and capable of being photocopied.

worthy of consideration.

Wherever possible, original documents
should form the subject of any appeal

8.13	The Ombudsman, after considering

proceedings but copies of documents

any application for condonation, may

shall be acceptable subject to the

grant or refuse such application in his

provisions of these terms of reference.

discretion.

Applications for Leave
to Appeal

8.14	Where leave to appeal against any
ruling or finding of the Ombudsman

8.10	Any party who desires to appeal

is refused by the Ombudsman, the

against any ruling or finding of the

unsuccessful party may, within 15

Ombudsman shall, within 30 calendar

business days of notification of such

days of

the handing down by the

refusal, petition the Chairman of the

Ombudsman of any final ruling or

Appeal Tribunal, to review the decision

finding, serve upon the Ombudsman

of the Ombudsman not to grant

as provided for herein, a Notice of

leave for appeal. The same provision

intention to Appeal, together with an

shall apply mutatIs mutandis to any

Application for Leave to Appeal which

application for condonation for the late

shall set out the basis for the proposed

filing of an appeal.

appeal as contemplated in Clause 8.5
above, together with reasons why

8.15	Any such request shall be addressed

Leave to Appeal against such ruling

to the Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal

or finding should be granted by the

via the Ombudsman who shall convey

Ombudsman. The granting of leave to

such request to the Chairman of the

appeal shall be a pre-requisite for the

Appeal Tribunal.

prosecution of any appeal.

the Appeal Tribunal shall within a

The Chairman of

reasonable period of time but in any
8.11	Failing receipt by the Ombudsman

event not later than a period of 15

of any Notice of Appeal within the

calendar days of the receipt of any

time period referred to in paragraph

such petition, either confirm or amend

8 above, the final ruling or finding by

the decision of the Ombudsman not

the Ombudsman shall become final

to grant leave to appeal or refusal to

and binding upon the parties and shall

condone any application for the late

be carried into effect without further

filing of an appeal.

delay.

shall thereafter within a period of

The Ombudsman

5 business days, inform the parties
8.12	Any late filing of a Notice of Appeal
or an Application for Leave to Appeal
shall be null and void save where
accompanied

by

an

application

for condonation for the late filing
of the appeal.

Any application for

condonation must set out in full the
reasons
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why

condonation

should

accordingly.

Appeals
8.16	An appeal against the ruling or finding
of the Ombudsman shall be heard
by an Appeal Tribunal who shall
consider the matter as if it were the
Ombudsman and shall include the
consideration of procedural as well as

substantive matters pertaining to the
objection raised by such party to the
decision of the Ombudsman.
The Appeal Tribunal may, where
8.17	
it considers it necessary or in the
interests of justice, permit the leading
of evidence or new evidence on any
matter, even if the Ombudsman himself
did not hold a hearing, or receive
evidence on any matter prior to making
a finding on any complaint referred to
him.
8.18	Where the Appeal Tribunal decides
to permit, or calls for the leading of
evidence, or evidence is led on material
that was never considered by the
Ombudsman, the tribunal may decide,
in its sole discretion to invite the
Ombudsman to consider the matter
in the light of such evidence and to
canvass the views of the Ombudsman
on the matter. The Ombudsman
should be invited to comment on the
new material in the manner and on
such terms as it may regard to be fair
to both parties.
8.19	Save where the Appeal Tribunal permits
or calls for the leading of evidence, no
evidence shall be led and the matter
shall be decided by the Appeal Tribunal
on the basis of the record of appeal
furnished to it by the Ombudsman,
including the documentation filed by
the parties in connection with the
appeal.
8.20	The record of appeal shall, save where
in the opinion of the Ombudsman
additional documentation is required,
consist of the following:8.20.1	The complainant’s Application
for Assistance form and
supporting documentation;
8.20.2	The insurer’s response to the
complaint;

Terms of Reference

8.20.3	The complainant’s reply to
the insurer’s response to the
complaint;
8.20.4	The Ombudsman’s finding in
relation to the complaint and

of a member of the Appeal

nominated by the Ombudsman.
8.24	The Appeal Tribunal must consist of a
Chairperson and at least two members

8.28.3	Academics with the particular

appointed for a minimum period of

knowledge of specific areas of

two years.

the law or persons of specific
knowledge, skill or training

any reasons furnished by the
Ombudsman for any ruling or
finding; and
8.20.5	
The

submissions

Tribunal; or

8.25	The Chairman of the Board must

whose expertise as an expert

appoint the Chairperson of the Appeal

in any particular field may be
appropriate.

or

Tribunal and such Chairperson must

representations made by the

either be a retired Judge or a practicing

8.29	The Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal

parties to the Appeal Tribunal in

Attorney or Advocate, or a person

may, in consultation with the Chairman

connection with the appeal.

who formally practiced as an Attorney

of the Board and the Ombudsman,

or Advocate, with at least ten years’

appoint a person who is not a member

experience

of the Appeal Tribunal to serve on

8.21	The Ombudsman may, in his discretion,
when submitting the documentation

and

with

appropriate

the panel if in the opinion of the

experience in Insurance Law.

Chairperson of the Appeal Tribunal

to the Appeal Tribunal in connection

such appointment is merited or

with any appeal, make representations

8.26	The Chairperson of the Appeal Tribunal

to the Appeal Tribunal by way of

is responsible for assigning matters for

explanation or elaboration of his

adjudication, taking into consideration

earlier determination and shall be

the nature and complexity of the

The Hearing of Appeals

entitled in such representations to deal

dispute or any special circumstance, to

8.30 The Ombudsman shall be in charge of

with such matters as policy, industry

a panel of two or more members of

all practical or administrative matters

practices and the approach followed by

the Appeal Tribunal who are suitably

preceding and relating to the hearing

him in regard to equity. In addition the

qualified to decide on a particular

of an appeal and shall be responsible

Ombudsman may furnish the Appeal

matter.

for the preparation of the record,

Tribunal with such other information as

deemed desirable.

the giving of notices and the making

he may consider to be of assistance or

8.27	The Chairman of the panel must be

of arrangements for the hearing of

guidance to the Appeal Tribunal, save

the Chairperson of the Appeal Tribunal.

an appeal, the recording of evidence,

that the parties shall be afforded an
opportunity to respond to any such
additional material thus placed before

if any, and all such other matters
8.28	The

person’s

nominated

by

the

Ombudsman must be:

incidental to the hearing or disposal
of the appeal.

the Appeal Tribunal.
8.28.1	Practicing

or

8.31	The Appeal Tribunal shall determine

Advocates or persons who

its own procedure both prior to and

shall not participate in the appeal

formerly

during the course of the hearing,

process save where he should be asked

Attorney or Advocate, with at

to do so by the Appeal Tribunal itself

least ten years’ experience and

on such terms and in such manner as

with appropriate experience in

may be determined by the Tribunal.

Insurance Law, and may include

and time and in such manner as the

retired Judges; or

Appeal Tribunal shall determine from

8.22	Save as aforesaid, the Ombudsman

Composition of the Appeal
Tribunal
8.23	The Chairman of the Board, in

Attorneys
practiced

as

an

8.28.2	Persons with extensive

including the hearing of oral evidence.
8.32	Appeals shall be heard at such place

time to time.

experience in relation to the
insurance industry and who

8.33	Not later than 10 business days before

consultation with the Vice-Chairman,

by virtue of their knowledge,

the hearing of an appeal, the appellant

must appoint the members of the

training and experience are

shall deliver to the Ombudsman a

Appeal Tribunal from the persons

able to perform the functions

concise and succinct statement of the
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main points which he intends to argue

8.38	
Any

party

who

a

Cost to the Parties to Appeals
8.42	Where an insurer notes an appeal

authorities (if any) to be tendered in

interest before the Appeal Tribunal

against

support of each point to be raised. Not

shall be personally responsible for any

Ombudsman and is not, in the opinion

later than 5 business days before the

fees and expenses associated with such

of the Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal,

hearing of an appeal, the respondent

representation.

successful with such appeal, it shall

8.34	
The

Chairman

Tribunal

may,

of
after

the

Appeal

consultation

with the Ombudsman, direct that a
contemplated appeal be dealt with as
an urgent matter and that the appeal
be prosecuted at such time and in such
manner as the Chairman of the Appeal
Tribunal deems appropriate.

represent

their

representative

shall deliver a similar statement.

to

employs

on appeal, as well as the list of legal

The Effect of the Decision and
Order of the Appeal Tribunal
8.39	Where

a

complainant

the matter on appeal put forward as if

against the ruling or finding of the
Ombudsman, such person shall abide
by the decision of the Appeal Tribunal
and the order of the Appeal Tribunal
shall be final and binding in relation
to the proceedings before the office
of the Ombudsman. The complainant
to thereafter pursue the matter further
in any court of law.

it were the Ombudsman determining
the complaint. The Appeal Tribunal

8.40	An unsuccessful appellant insurer shall

shall take into account the balance of

have no further right of recourse or

probabilities and its finding shall be

action and shall be bound by the terms

based on the criteria of law, equity and

of the order of the Appeal Tribunal

fairness.

save that nothing contained herein shall
in any way affect the right of an insurer

8.36	The Appeal Tribunal shall deliver its

to review any ruling made by the

judgment on the matter in writing to

Ombudsman or the Appeal Tribunal in

the Ombudsman within one calendar

a court of law.

month of the conclusion of the hearing.
The Ombudsman shall in turn deliver
a copy thereof to the parties within a
period of 10 business days.

Representation
8.37	Any party to any appeal shall have the
right to be represented at the hearing
but, wherever possible, the parties
should confine their submissions in
regard to matters before the Appeal
Tribunal

to

written

submissions

contained in a statement of case
including, where appropriate, heads of
argument.
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Precedent
8.41	In recognition of the requirement that
rulings made by the Ombudsman shall
not establish any precedent in the
Ombudsman’s office, the decisions of the
Appeal Tribunal shall not be accorded
any formal status or regarded as creating
binding precedents, but may serve as
guidelines for future cases. Such findings
or orders may however, serve as strong
persuasive value for the Ombudsman
and any other Appeal Tribunal in which
the same dispute may be raised so as
to ensure consistency in the decisions of
the office of the Ombudsman.

final

ruling

of

the

defray the cost of such appeal incurred
by the Ombudsman in connection with
the appeal proceedings.

appeals

shall however be entitled, if so desired,
8.35	The Appeal Tribunal should approach

any

8.43	Where the insurer is the appellant
in any proceedings, save where the
Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal may
direct otherwise, the cost to be paid
by the insurer in relation to any appeal
proceedings may be determined by the
Board of the Ombudsman for Shortterm Insurance, from time to time.
8.44	Where

the

complainant

is

the

appellant in any appeal proceedings
the Ombudsman may, in his discretion
and taking into account, inter alia, the
amount of the claim, the complexity
of the issues and the complainant’s
personal circumstances, call upon such
party to pay a deposit in an amount
determined

by

the

Ombudsman

which deposit shall be refunded to
the appellant should the appellant
be successful in the appeal.

In the

event that the appeal fails, the deposit
shall be forfeited to the office of the
Ombudsman

and

shall

constitute

the only liability on the part of the
complainant for the costs of the appeal
proceedings. If the appeal is, in the
view of the Appeal Tribunal, successful,
the amount paid by the appellant shall
be refunded to the appellant.
8.45	
In no case shall the Appeal Tribunal
award costs in favour of a successful
party and in no case shall a losing party
to an appeal be ordered by the Appeal

Terms of Reference

Tribunal to pay costs to the other

other body or organisation

Ombudsman shall not be liable to

party, save where the Chairman of the

which may be entitled to

disclosure or be the subject of a

Appeal Tribunal considers that, having

receive such information from

discovery order or subpoena in the

regard to the presence of exceptional

the Ombudsman in connection

event of any legal proceedings between

circumstances, a punitive order as to

with his/her activities and/or

the Complainant and the Insurer.

costs against any party is merited.

which may have a legitimate

9.	Policyholder /
Complainant’s rights
The

Policy

Holder/Complainant’s

rights

to institute proceedings in any competent

interest in such information,

11.5	The Ombudsman or any member of his

having regard to its statutory

staff will not be liable to be subpoenaed

mandate, role as an industry

to give evidence on the subject of a

association or otherwise.

complaint in any proceedings.

11.1.3	Publishing statistics and related
information

in

affected by any of the provisions of these

Report

the Association

terms of reference provided that, if the Policy

concerning complaints received

The Ombudsman shall report to the

Holder/Complainant institutes proceedings

by the Ombudsman against

Board all complaints, which have not been

while the complaint is under investigation by

members of the Association as

completed in one or way or another within

the Ombudsman, the provisions of clause 4.2

approved by the Board of the

a time, laid down by the Board. This time

shall apply.

Ombudsman for Short-term

period shall initially be set at 6 (six) months

Insurance from time to time.

calculated from the date that a complaint

10. Precedents

of

the

12. Complaints not settled in
defined period

court of law against the Insurer shall not be

Annual

11.1.4	
Filing, either on behalf of the

Rulings shall not establish any precedent in

Association, or any complainant

the Ombudsman’s office.

from whom a complaint is

became an accepted complaint.

received, a complaint with SAIA

11. Confidentiality

in connection with any Code

	(As approved at the Annual
General Meeting held on 28th
June 2011)

of Conduct applicable to or

11.1	The Ombudsman shall a far as possible,

any member of the Association.

adopted by that organisation
and which may be applicable to

maintain confidentiality unless the
parties concerned expressly exempt

11.2	The Insurer and the Complainant

him or her from that duty and the duty

shall not be entitled to make use

shall continue after the termination

of any information which comes to

of his or her services. The duty of

their knowledge as a result of the

confidentiality

intervention

shall

however,

not

of

the

Ombudsman

during the course of any investigation

prevent the Ombudsman from:

by him or her.
11.1.1	Publishing details of rulings
11.3	A complaint will be regarded as

made by him or her.
of

confidential as between the Policy

rulings or furnishing statistical

Holder, the Insurer and the Ombudsman

information in connection with

and it is for the Ombudsman to decide

the workings of the office to

what should be disclosed to the Insurer

the South African Insurance

and/or the Policy Holder.

11.1.2	Reporting

Association

on

details

(SAIA),

the

Financial Services Board (FSB),
the National Treasury or any

11.4	Documents

brought

into

being

as a result of any approach to the

Legends Game Reserve, Limpopo Province
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Members of the Board
of Directors

John Myburgh SC
Chairman

Wendy Knowler
Vice Chairman

Independent Director
Chairman: Ombudsman for Banking
Services, former Judge

Consumer Director
Consumer Journalist

Lesedi Letwaba
Ex-Officio Director
Head of Department: Insurance
Compliance, Financial Services
Board

Former Editor of The Natal Witness
and of The Star

Leigh Bennie
Consumer Director
Consumer Journalist

Head: Group Corporate Affairs,
The Hollard Insurance Company
Limited

Paul Crankshaw
Consumer Director

Head: Quality Management,
Santam Insurance Limited

Deputy Chairman of National
Consumer Forum

Barry Scott
Ex-Officio Director
Chief Executive, The South African
Insurance Association

Thuli Zungu
Consumer Director

Gail Walters
Industry Director

Gerhard Genis
Industry Director

Board as at 7 April 2014
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Richard Steyn
Independent Director

Consumer Journalist

Collin Molepe
Industry Director
Chief Operations Officer, Zurich
Insurance Company South Africa
Limited

Members of the Board of Directors

Melrose Arch, Johannesburg, Gauteng Province
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Professional Staff
of the Ombudsman

MIRIAM MATABANE Operations Manager / Company Secretary
and AZEHT DU PLESSIS Bookkeeper / Office Manager

EDITE TEIXEIRA-MCKINON Deputy Ombudsman
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Senior Assistant Ombudsmen: DARPANA HARKISON,
PETER NKHUNA and THASNIM DAWOOD

Professional Staff of the Ombudsman

HANNES BESTER (Assistant Ombudsman), DHARMITA JOGEE (Assistant Ombudsman),
ANASTATIA NGIDI-MKHWANAZI (Junior Assistant Ombudsman), AYANDA MAZWI (Assistant Ombudsman) and
ADRIAAN LOMBARD (Assistant Ombudsman)

Assistant Ombudsmen: NOSIPHO MFEKA,VALERIE MNGADI, JOHN THEUNNISSEN and JOHAN JANSE VAN RENSBURG
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Support Staff
of the Ombudsman

Front row: Brumilda Blignaut, Louisah Letlhabe, Gadija Fisher, Michelle Grobler
Middle row: Mavis Mabaso, Terry Joseph, Monica Bolgann, Sibongile Gumede, Mary Tshabalala and Mariam Khampepe
Back row: Melissa van Zyl, Jo-Anne Goqo and Leonie Budricks

Ombudsman
Dennis Jooste

Deputy Ombudsman
Edite Teixeira-McKinon

Senior Assistant
Ombudsmen

Junior Assistant
Ombudsman

Accounts Assistant

Receptionist

Terry Joseph

Gadija Fisher

Anastatia Ngidi-Mkhwanazi

Operations Manager/
Company Secretary
Miriam Matabane

Personal Assistant to
the Ombudsman and
Deputy Ombudsman
Karinien Kok

Peter Nkhuna

Bookkeeper/Office
Manager

Thasnim Dawood

Azeht du Plessis

Assistant Ombudsmen

Call Centre Supervisor

Aadielah Human

Adriaan Lombard

Selinah Phakoe

Leonie Budricks

Darpana Harkison

Ayanda Mazwi
Dharmita Jogee
Hannes Bester
Johan Janse Van Rensburg
John Theunissen
Nosipho Mfeka
Valerie Mngadi
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Call Centre
Consultants
Jo-Anne Goqo
Melissa van Zyl
Louisah Letlhabe
Mary Tshabalala

Secretarial
Janine Schultz
Joanne Sergel

Brumilda Blignaut
Monica Bolgann
Claudia Kampmann
Katia Lo Drago
Candice Fourie
Michelle Grobler

Clerical
Mavis Mabaso
Sibongile Gumede

Clerical Assistant/
Office Cleaner
Mariam Khampepe
		

Support Staff of the Ombudsman

Front row: Selinah Phakoe, Karinien Kok, Janine Schultz, Aadielah Human
Back row: Candace Fourie, Claudia Kampmann, Joanne Sergel.
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Members of
the Ombudsman scheme

ABSA Insurance Company Limited

MiWay Insurance Limited

ACE Insurance Company Limited

Momentum ST Insurance Company Limited

AIG Insurance

Monarch Insurance Company Limited

Alexander Forbes Insurance Company

Mutual & Federal Insurance Company Limited

Allianz Global Corporate & Specialty SA Limited

Natsure Limited

Auto & General Insurance Company

Nedgroup Insurance Company Limited

Bidvest Insurance Limited

New National Assurance Company Limited

Budget Insurance Company Limited

NMS Insurance Services (SA) Limited

Centriq Insurance Company Limited

Oakhurst Insurance Company Limited

Compass Insurance Company Limited

Old Mutual Health Insurance Limited

Constantia Insurance Company Limited

OUTsurance

Corporate Guarantee (South Africa) Limited

R M B Structured Insurance Limited

Dial Direct Insurance Limited

Regent Insurance

Discovery Insure

Relyant Insurance Company Limited

Emerald Insurance Company Limited

Renasa Insurance Company Limited

Etana Insurance Company Limited

SAFIRE Insurance Company Limited

First for Women Insurance Company Limited

SAHL Insurance Company Limited

GENRIC Insurance Company Limited

Santam Limited

Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited

SASRIA SOC LIMITED

Hollard Insurance Company Limited

SaXum Insurance Company Limited

Indequity Specialised Insurance Limited

Shoprite Insurance Company Limited

Infiniti Insurance Limited

Standard Insurance Limited

JDG Micro Insurance Limited

Sunderland Marine (Africa) Limited

King Price Insurance

Unitrans

Legal Expenses Southern Africa Limited

Vodacom

Lion of Africa

Western National Insurance Limited

Lloyd’ s South Africa Limited

Zurich Insurance Company Limited

Lombard Insurance Company Limited
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Useful Information
about other offices

1. Ombudsman for Long-Term Insurance
Private Bag X45, Claremont 7735
Telephone: 021 657 5000
Sharecall: 0860 662 837
Fax: 021 674 0951
E-mail: info@ombud.co.za
Website: www.ombud.co.za

2. The Statutory Ombudsman
PO Box 74571, Lynnwoodridge, 0040
Sharecall: 0860 324 766
Telephone: 012 470 9080
Fax: 012 348 3447
Email: info@faisombud.co.za
Website: www.faisombud.co.za

3. The Ombud for Financial Service Providers
PO Box 74571, Lynnwoodridge, 0040
Sharecall: 0860 324 766
Telephone: 012 470 9080
Fax: 012 348 3447
Email: info@faisombud.co.za
Website: www.faisombud.co.za

4. The Ombudsman for Banking Services
PO Box 87056, Houghton, 2041
Sharecall: 0860 800 900
Telephone: 011 712 1800
Fax: 011 483 3212
Email: info@obssa.co.za
Website: www.obssa.co.za

5. The Credit Ombud
P O Box 805, Pinegowrie, 2123
Call Centre: 0861 622 837
Fax: 0866 834 644
Email: ombud@creditombud.org.za
Website: www.creditombud.org.za

6. The Pension Funds Adjudicator
P O Box 580, Menlyn, 0063
Telephone: 012 346 1738
Fax: 086 693 7472
Email: enquiries@pfa.org.za
Website: www.pfa.org.za

7. The National Credit Regulator
P O Box to 127, 15th Road, Randjespark, Midrand, 1685
Call Centre: 0860 627 627
Email: complaints@ncr.org.za
Telephone: 011 554 2600
Website: www.ncr.org.za

8. Public Protector
Private Bag X677, Pretoria, 0001
Telephone: 012 366 7000
Fax: 012 362 3473
Toll free number: 0800 11 20 40
Website: www.pprotect.org

9. The Financial Services Board
PO Box 35655, Menlo Park, 0102
Toll-free: 0800 110 443 or 0800 202 087
Telephone: 012 428 8000
Fax: 012 346 6941
Email: info@fsb.co.za
Website: www.fsb.co.za

10. National Consumer Commission
8, Bauhinia Road, Block 10, Berkley Office Park,
Techno Park, Centurion
Tel: 012 761 3000
Email: complaints@thencc.org.za
Website: www.thedti.gov.za

11. Financial Ombudsman Call Centre
Sharecall: 0860OMBUDS/0860662837
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CONTACT US
Sunnyside Office Park, 5th Floor, Building D
32 Princess of Wales Terrace,
Parktown, Johannesburg
P O Box 32334, Braamfontein, 2017
Share Call Number: 0860 726 890
Telephone: 011 726-8900
Facsimile: 011 726-5501
Email: info@osti.co.za
Website: http://www.osti.co.za
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